

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Hohmeyer, Katrin; Jozwiak, Eva

Working Paper Who is targeted by One-Euro-Jobs? A selectivity analysis

IAB-Discussion Paper, No. 8/2008

Provided in Cooperation with: Institute for Employment Research (IAB)

Suggested Citation: Hohmeyer, Katrin; Jozwiak, Eva (2008) : Who is targeted by One-Euro-Jobs? A selectivity analysis, IAB-Discussion Paper, No. 8/2008, Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung (IAB), Nürnberg

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/32698

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU

Institut für Arbeitsmarktund Berufsforschung

Die Forschungseinrichtung der Bundesagentur für Arbeit



IAB-Discussion Paper 8/2008

Beiträge zum wissenschaftlichen Dialog aus dem Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung

Who is targeted by One-Euro-Jobs?

A selectivity analysis

Katrin Hohmeyer Eva Jozwiak

Who is targeted by One-Euro-Jobs? A selectivity analysis

Katrin Hohmeyer (IAB) Eva Jozwiak (IAB)

Mit der Reihe "IAB-Discussion Paper" will das Forschungsinstitut der Bundesagentur für Arbeit den Dialog mit der externen Wissenschaft intensivieren. Durch die rasche Verbreitung von Forschungsergebnissen über das Internet soll noch vor Drucklegung Kritik angeregt und Qualität gesichert werden.

The "IAB Discussion Paper" is published by the research institute of the German Federal Employment Agency in order to intensify the dialogue with the scientific community. The prompt publication of the latest research results via the internet intends to stimulate criticism and to ensure research quality at an early stage before printing.

Contents

Abstract	4
1 Introduction	5
2 Institutional framework	6
3 Selectivity of public employment programmes in Germany	7
4 Theoretical background	9
5 Data and method 5.1 Data	
5.2 Method	13
6 Results	14
6.1 Socio-demographics	15
6.2 Labour market history	
6.3 Partner information	
6.4 Decomposing participation differences	19
7 Summary and conclusion	21
References	23

Abstract

In 2005 major reforms of the means-tested unemployment benefit system were implemented in Germany. One element of the reforms was to activate benefit recipients by a workfare programme, the so-called One-Euro-Job programme. More than 600,000 benefit recipients entered this programme in the year 2005. This paper investigates for a sample of means-tested unemployment benefit recipients the selection into One-Euro-Jobs in spring 2005 with the help of binary probit models. As there are substantial gender and regional effects, we estimate the selection equations for men and women in East and West Germany separately.

Women have a lower probability of participating if they have a child under the age of three, whereas this makes no difference for men. Then, we find that young adults below 25 years begin a One-Euro-Job with a higher probability than other age groups. Moreover, special target groups such as individuals with migration background are not promoted with One-Euro-Jobs. They participate with a lower probability than Germans without migration background. Overall, we conclude that a concentration on defined target groups cannot be observed. To analyse the sizable differences in participation probabilities of women in East and West Germany a Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition of effects is applied. It turns out that the differences can partly be traced back to characteristics such as qualification and employment history and to the availability of child care facilities.

JEL classification: D78, J16, J68

Keywords: workfare, selection, means-tested benefit recipients, Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition

We are grateful to Sarah Bernhard, Katja Wolf, Joachim Wolff and Cordula Zabel for their very helpful comments and suggestions.

1 Introduction

In recent years major reforms of the labour market (the so-called Hartz reforms) have been introduced in Germany with the scope of reducing the persistent high unemployment rates.¹ One of the reforms was implemented with the introduction of the Social Code II. A new means-tested benefit, the unemployment benefit II (UB II), was introduced in 2005 which replaced the unemployment and social assistance for employable persons in needy households. The Social Code II in contrast to the former system emphasises activation policies. As one means of activating unemployed a workfare programme called One-Euro-Jobs was introduced in 2005 which have been widely used since then. In 2006, more than 700,000 unemployed started a One-Euro-Job.

As the programme is supposed to be used as a kind of last resort, special target groups for this programme are hard-to-place unemployed or those who are distant to the labour market. One-Euro-Jobs should enhance employability as well as reemployment chances. Another application of this programme is the usage as a willingness-to-work test where no special target group is defined and unemployed with rather good labour market chances are also likely to participate. This paper investigates the selection into One-Euro-Jobs and how these different programme goals are reflected in the programme assignment.

There are only a few studies that focus on programme selectivity. However, several reasons support the importance of selectivity studies (Heckman / Smith 2004). First, knowledge on selectivity can provide useful information on programme operations. E.g., are One-Euro-Jobs actually used as work tests or are they rather used as a kind of last resort for persons particularly hard to place? Second, we can learn about inequality. Do specific groups, such as women or foreigners have the same chance (or "risk") of participating as others? Third, it contributes to finding an adequate evaluation strategy used for determining the effects of the programme on participants' employment outcome. Furthermore, questions about the participation probability of certain groups and why some are taking part less can be addressed here. One example are West German women who have a very low participation probability. With the usage of a new application of the Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition analysis by Fairlie (2006) we explain this low participation in comparison to East German women.

The paper is organised as follows: chapter two displays the institutional framework of the recent reforms and of One-Euro-Jobs, while chapter three summarises previous findings on participation structures and selectivity of public employment and workfare programmes. In chapter four we outline the theoretical framework and hypotheses. The method and data that we used are described in chapter five. This is followed by the results of the probit as well as the decomposition analysis in chapter six and a summary and conclusions in chapter seven.

¹ A comprehensive description of changes in labour market policies by the Hartz reforms can be found in Jacobi / Kluve (2007).

2 Institutional framework

In January 2005 the last step of the Hartz reforms came into force in Germany and the Social Code II ("SGB II") was introduced.² One main point of the reform was the consolidation of the former unemployment assistance and social assistance for employable needy persons to unemployment benefit II ("Arbeitslosengeld II"). The reforms aimed at integrating more individuals into the labour market. This particularly concerns persons who were serviced by the social assistance offices before and who have not been working for a long period and thus are rather distant to the labour market.

On the one hand, the new Social Code II challenges the efforts of unemployed people with regard to search for employment in the direction that e.g. unemployment benefits can be cut if efforts are too low. On the other hand, the reform provides more opportunities of assisting unemployed towards employment take-up. One option of promoting and challenging unemployed people is public employment. Three similar types of public employment programmes exist within the Social Code II: First, there are the traditional job creation schemes ("Arbeits-beschaffungsmaßnahmen") that had already been part of the law of employment promotion ("Arbeitsförderungsgesetz") in 1969. Second, two types of work opportunities have been introduced in 2005: Contributory work opportunities with wage ("Arbeitsgelegenheiten in der Entgeltvariante") and work opportunities with an allowance to unemployment benefits for additional expenses ("Arbeitsgelegenheiten in der Mehraufwandsvariante"), also known as One-Euro-Jobs.³ More than 95 % of work opportunities are One-Euro-Jobs, hence we concentrate on this programme. Table 1 shows that more than 600,000 unemployed in 2005 and more than 700,000 in 2006 started a One-Euro-Job.

	2005	2006	Jan Oct. 2007
Total	603,771	704,477	604,461
East Germany	287,872	297,979	242,102
% of women	44.9	44.6	44.3
West Germany	315,899	406,498	362,359
% of women	34.2	35.0	36.5

Table 1
Entries into One-Euro-Jobs since introduction 2005 to October 2007

Source: Statistics of the Federal Employment Agency, calculations from the Data Ware House⁴

² A number of recent reforms are based on proposals of a commission, led by Peter Hartz, head of the personnel executive committee of Volkswagen. Many of the labour market reform elements proposed by this commission in the year 2002 were not entirely new, but were discussed already for quite some time.

³ Table 2 in the Appendix gives a list of characteristics of these three public employment programmes.

⁴ The statistics on inflow and stocks exclude the 69 districts in which only local authorities are in charge of administering the unemployment benefit II.

One-Euro-Jobs aim at several goals: They are targeted on increasing the employability of longterm unemployed people and enhancing their chances of finding regular employment (Bundesagentur für Arbeit 2005). Furthermore, they aim at integrating unemployed persons socially by providing them with a task and a daily routine. They are also used as means of testing an unemployed person's willingness to work. Moreover, public employment can be seen as a contribution to the provision of public goods of the means-tested unemployment benefit recipients.

One-Euro-Jobs are designed for employable means-tested benefit recipients between 15 and 64 years. Jobs carried out within One-Euro-Jobs have to be additional and of public interest just as job creation schemes. They are subordinate to regular employment, vocational training and other active labour market programmes. This implies that persons with specific difficulties in finding regular employment should be more likely to participate in One-Euro-Jobs than those who have better chances of finding a job. One example for those particularly hard to place are persons with long (cumulated) periods of unemployment or those whose last regular employment is long ago. Those who have neither worked nor been registered unemployed in the years before the implementation are also far from the regular labour market. Moreover, the Federal Employment Agency defined special target groups for One-Euro-Jobs within the Social Code II compendium (Bundesagentur für Arbeit 2006a). These are young adults, unemployed individuals with placement barriers, persons with migration background and older unemployed persons.

The selectivity analysis investigates if such target groups are really addressed by the programme. However, the aim of One-Euro-Jobs to serve as willingness-to-work tests partly conflicts with the target group idea. It is one task of this study to reveal who is more probable to participate in One-Euro-Jobs and which aim is more prevalent.

Participants receive an allowance of usually one to 1.5 Euros per hour worked additional to unemployment benefits. Organisations providing the work opportunity receive a lump sum covering the allowance and further costs (e.g. working clothes and training of participants) of carrying out One-Euro-Jobs. One-Euro-Jobs are not liable to social security. The duration of participation is typically up to six months and participants are still able to apply for regular jobs. On average, weekly hours have been 28.9 in West and 27.7 in East Germany for the first six month in 2005 (Wolff / Hohmeyer 2006).

3 Selectivity of public employment programmes in Germany

Since Social Code II has just been introduced in 2005, very little research on the probability of recipients of unemployment benefits II to take part in active labour market programmes has been done. So far, no multivariate analysis on the participation probability exists for public employment programmes for means-tested unemployment benefit recipients. Recently, some descriptive research on the structure of participants (inflow) of public employment programmes in 2005 has been published (Bernhard et al. 2006, Heinemann et al. 2006, Hohmeyer

et al. 2006, Wolff / Hohmeyer 2006). These studies identify potential target groups for public employment programmes on the basis of the stock of unemployed and the guidelines of the Federal Employment Agency and analyse in how far these target groups participate in the programmes.

The two types of work opportunities appear to be very similar concerning their structure of participants: young persons under the age of 25 years start a work opportunity disproportionately often. This fact can be traced back to the legal requirement that young persons have to be placed immediately to a job, to vocational training or to a work opportunity. Older unemployed persons take up a work opportunity less often compared to their share in the unemployed individuals. An exception are East German unemployed who are older than 57 years, who participate more often in One-Euro-Jobs compared to their share in the stock of unemployed. This can be explained with the special promotion of this age group since July 2005 when a special One-Euro-Job programme for this age group has been introduced. Women in West Germany less often start one of these programmes while East German women start them proportionately compared to their share in the unemployment stock. Women without vocational training participate even less often while for men the share of participants without vocational training is about as high as their share in the unemployment stock. Overall, no concentration on target groups can be observed in these descriptive studies with the exception of young unemployed people.

There are further programmes that are only partly comparable to One-Euro-Jobs. On the one hand, there are welfare-to-work programmes. On the other hand, there are job creation schemes. One-Euro-Jobs lie somehow in between both programmes. That is why we shortly present selected selectivity results for job creation schemes as well as for workfare programmes.

Research on job creation schemes is done for the group of unemployment insurance recipients and not for the means-tested unemployment benefit recipients that is analysed in this study. In various evaluation studies, Caliendo et al. (2004, 2005a, 2005b) and Caliendo (2006) analyse the participation probabilities of a sample of persons who are registered unemployed in January 2000 and receiving benefits using binary logit models.

In West Germany, married persons (especially women) have a lower probability of participation whereas in East Germany the opposite holds. The authors presume that this is due to the rather traditional division of labour between men and women in West Germany or due to the different labour market situation in both regions. Assuming that married women are more likely to participate if their husband is unemployed, this could be the reason for the regional difference, considering that unemployment is higher in East Germany. However, the authors could not test this hypothesis with the data that was available to them. As there is more precise data on the household context available to us, we take a look on this hypothesis for the case of One-Euro-Jobs. A higher level of education comes along with a higher probability to participate for women, while the effect for men is negative or zero. Work experience is associated with a lower participation probability. Furthermore, there are some regional effects: while the participation probability in East Germany is higher if the labour market situation is worse, the participation probability of unemployed persons in West Germany rises if labour market prospects are good.

Besides these few German studies about the selection into public employment schemes, there is some international evidence on the selection into workfare programmes. Handler (2003) surveys international workfare literature and compares selectivity of workfare programmes in the US and in Western Europe. He concludes that workfare participation is highly selective. He mostly ascribes this to service workers who prefer sending clients with better employment chances to a workfare programme (cream skimming).

For several reasons, the multivariate selectivity analysis of One-Euro-Jobs in Germany is a new task as this is firstly a new programme, and secondly, there is generally not much evidence on programme selectivity and its cause. Furthermore, we want to examine if the results can be queued in the international workfare and public employment literature.

4 Theoretical background

Public employment has the scope of activating unemployed individuals. On the one hand, public employment aims at raising the employability of participants and hereby enhancing their labour market chances. One-Euro-Jobs in particular have the goal of creating basic preconditions for participants to take up jobs. For example, participants should get used to regular work schedules. Hence, this is most likely effective for those UB II recipients who are hard to place. Furthermore, such One-Euro-Jobs can also be used as a work test. Is the unemployed willing to work or able to follow a regular work schedule? This reason for an assignment into a One-Euro-Job may also count for unemployed with placement barriers and on the other hand for persons where illegal employment is assumed. Thus, the decision of which individuals are selected into the programme may also influence the effectiveness of public employment that is investigated by micro econometric studies (Hohmeyer / Wolff 2007). For such programme evaluation studies it is important to generate knowledge about the processes and mechanisms of placement into One-Euro-Jobs and the programme operation to apply a suitable evaluation strategy. This kind of research plays a crucial part in identifying problems of the current labour market reforms and their actual implementation.

Heckman and Smith (2004) display the participation decision for a prototypical voluntary labour market programme as a process of five steps that all have to be passed through so that participation takes places. Theses fives steps are: 1. eligibility, 2. awareness, 3. application, 4. acceptance and 5. enrolment. This concept can be applied to the typical situation of the selection into One-Euro-Jobs. However, the single steps cannot always clearly be disentangled.

We have information on the participation decision from two different sources. First, we analysed legal requirements and documents of the Federal Employment Agency. According to

them, eligibility is affected by legal requirements. Second, we conducted a survey of case managers in late 2005 (Wolff / Hohmeyer 2006). We firstly describe the five steps shortly according to the two sources. This is followed by a more detailed description of each step. This survey showed that typically either an eligible (Step 1: eligibility) unemployed enquires about participation in a work opportunity or the participation in general is suggested by the case manager (Step 2: awareness). It is rarely the case that an unemployed person approaches his case manager with a concrete work opportunity that he has found. Typically, it is the case manager who proposes a concrete work opportunity to the unemployed needy person (see also the suggestion form for work opportunities on the homepage of the Federal Employment Agency) (Step 3: proposal), who then has to attend an interview with the operating establishment (Step 4: interview and acceptance). If the unemployed individual is accepted by the establishment, he can start the One-Euro-Job (Step 5: enrolment). In our results, we cannot distinguish between the different steps. However, they make clear which mechanisms in a selection could be at work. They furthermore clarify that the selection into programme is no single event but a process. The selection depends on different restrictions, legislative, executive as well as judicial ones.

Unemployed individuals do not necessarily begin a One-Euro-Job voluntarily, as this programme can also be used as a work test in order to check whether unemployed persons are available to job placement and willing to cooperate. A refusal to start a One-Euro-Job can be sanctioned with a cut of unemployment benefits.

Step 1: Eligibility

Unemployed individuals who receive UB II are eligible for participation in One-Euro-Jobs. As we consider only unemployed recipients of UB II we cannot regard the determinants of eligibility. Although we do not look at this step, we can reasonably investigate the determinants of participation or as Heckman and Smith (2004) put it: "Getting these groups to participate in employment and training programs (...) requires more than just making them eligible for program services." Nevertheless, eligibility is regarded insofar as we consider the relevance of defined target groups for One-Euro-Jobs.

Step 2: Awareness

Due to high media coverage of One-Euro-Jobs a *general knowledge* can be presumed. However, it cannot be assumed that unemployed persons know in detail whether they are eligible, which types of One-Euro-Jobs exist and, e.g., for those who have small children what the options for child care are. According to Heckman and Smith (2004) we can expect that language skills, education and access to a network of persons who have heard of the programme or have participated themselves raise the likelihood that one knows about work opportunities.

Furthermore, *frequency of contacts* to the local employment agency plays a role, because case managers should inform unemployed needy persons about One-Euro-Jobs. Therefore, we can assume that the person in a household, who is authorised to deal with the request for unemployment benefits for the household, is more likely to be informed about work opportunities by

the case manager. Moreover, the awareness depends on the respective *case manager* and the *local employment agency*. The local employment agency determines the implementation of One-Euro-Jobs, e.g., by deciding how many unemployed are placed, who is placed (targeting) and what kind of One-Euro-Jobs are established. The case manager's inclination to inform the unemployed about work opportunities is influenced by these decisions and of course by target groups that are required by law. The case manager is especially inclined if the unemployed belongs to a defined target group or if the unemployed has good prospects to be integrated into the regular labour market (cream skimming).

Step 3: Proposal

The likelihood to receive a proposal of a concrete One-Euro-Job is not only dependent on the inclination of the case manager but also on the availability of suitable positions. Hence, also individual characteristics are essential.

Individual qualification may therefore be important. E.g., if there are One-Euro-Jobs with certain qualification requirements available, only qualified individuals may take part. That is why cream skimming may play an important role. Case workers may have an incentive to place rather highly skilled persons to a One-Euro-Job because integration into the labour market after the programme is easier to achieve for them than for persons with lower qualification and case managers are often evaluated by integration rates.⁵ Furthermore, also the household context is likely to be important, e.g. the existence of (small) children in the household. If child care availability is a problem, it is less probable that persons with small children will get a proposal for a One-Euro-Job. This argument also holds for individuals who are currently working, predominantly in minor employment, and not earning enough to live on. They would not have the time to participate in a One-Euro-Job without giving up their present employment which (in the short run) would be efficient neither for themselves nor for employment agencies. Moreover, the before mentioned use as a work test could motivate case managers to propose a One-Euro-Job to higher qualified persons.

Furthermore, it is likely that defined target groups like for example young unemployed or foreigners will get a proposal for a One-Euro-Job as social worker should propose them.

Step 4: Interview and acceptance

The interview and then an acceptance decision follow the proposal. Therefore, it is highly likely that this also depends on personal characteristics. As the result of the interview not only depends on the unemployed person but also on the firm side, it is likely that creaming could take place to some extent. However, it is also possible that no interview takes place and the social worker assigns some individuals directly to a One-Euro-Job.

⁵ As Handler (2003) shows this is also empirically relevant for several countries.

Step 5: Enrolment

There is no random assignment like in the example of Heckman and Smith (2004). The actual enrolment after acceptance can only be prevented by failure to appear. This is influenced by health and opportunities of illegal employment. However, non-enrolment can be sanctioned by cuts in UB II payments. Therefore, it is again personal characteristics that count for enrolment. Someone who has to take care of anyone, e. g., for a child, is less likely to provoke such a benefit sanction.

5 Data and method

5.1 Data

For our analyses we are relying on a rich administrative dataset containing individual information on personal characteristics and on the unemployment as well as the employment history (sample of the Integrated Employment Biographies IEB version 5.00). Moreover, there is this very same information also for the partner (not only married partner but partner living in the same household) of the unemployed individuals. This is only possible for the new data on unemployment benefit II recipients because of the labour market reforms in January 2005 that defined neediness in a household context. We rely on the new UB II dataset 'Leistungshistorik Grundsicherung' (LHG version 1.00). Furthermore, we include information on regional labour market characteristics like the unemployment rate as well as the trend in the unemployment rate (on the district level). Also, regional labour market types developed by Rüb and Werner (2007) are included. Furthermore, we include regional information on the availability of child care facilities in districts (Statistische Ämter des Bundes und der Länder 2004).

We analyse a random sample from the unemployment stock on 31st January 2005 who receives UB II. Participants start a One-Euro-Job between February and April 2005. Here, only the first programme start of the participants in this time frame is considered. Later programme starts in the same timeframe are therefore ignored. Non-participants do not start such an employment programme in spring 2005.⁶

The dataset contains 467,082 observations with 379,990 control individuals and 87,092 treated individuals. After excluding cases because of missing values in relevant covariates (7,045), an age restriction from 15 to 62 years (2,209), missing values because of the combination of IEB and LHG datasets (48,118), participation in ALMP on 31st January 2005 (10,988) and not being unemployed directly before the programme start or virtual programme start (36,526) there remain 289,303 untreated individuals as well as 72,883 treated individuals.

Because of the rich information in the dataset we include a variety of covariates we assume influencing the assignment into One-Euro-Jobs. First of all, we include socio-demographic

⁶ The dataset only considers individuals not in the responsibility of districts or towns (69 out of 439) which are not cooperating directly with the Federal Employment Agency as the data was not available.

variables on age, impairment of health and disability, nationality, marital status, children and qualification of the individuals.⁷ Next, we consider variables on the unemployment history as cumulated unemployment duration, cumulated receipt of unemployment insurance (UI), cumulated receipt of unemployment assistance (UA) and cumulated duration of out-of-labour force (neither being employed nor unemployed). We also include UI and UA receipt on 31st December 2004. Then, we incorporate variables on employment such as the cumulated regular employment duration as well as information on the last job (sector, firm size, earnings). Also, the distance to the labour market is regarded by using a variable on the duration since the last end of a job and a variable on the mean duration of last jobs. We also include, whether individuals have a minor employment (mini job) on 31st January 2005. Only for women, we take into account if they are looking for a part-time job. Furthermore, there are variables on the history of the participation in active labour market programmes. Moreover, we consider several interaction terms with age: age interacted with regular employment in the past as well as the interaction between age and vocational training. The effects could be different for younger individuals because for them the probability is higher of not having any vocational training and longer regular employment spells. Then, we include some information about the partner, such as qualification, out-of-labour-force times and if the partner is unemployed on 31st January 2005. Furthermore, we included the information on the share of children under the age of three who is looked after in a daycare facility.⁸ And finally, we control for regional characteristics on the one hand with the local unemployment rate and its trend, the vacancyunemployment ratio and its trend and the percentage of long-term unemployed and its trend. On the other hand, we also include the regional classification of labour market types according to Rüb and Werner (2007) into twelve district types. The descriptive statistics of the dataset is shown in Table 3 in the Appendix.

5.2 Method

The main question of our analysis is: what are the determinants for the participation in a One-Euro-Job? As there are only two observable outcomes (participation and non-participation) the dependent variable is binary and can only take the values 0 or 1. Thus, there exists a class of binary choice models (Verbeek 2004) that cope with these challenges. These models describe the probability that y_i equals 1:

 $\mathsf{P}\{ y_i = 1 \mid x_i\} = \mathsf{G}(x_i, \beta)$

The function G should only take on values in the interval [0,1]. Usually, functions of the form $G(x_i, \beta) = F(x_i', \beta)$ are chosen where F also has to be in the range of [0,1]. Commonly, the standard normal distribution is chosen leading to the so-called probit model.

⁷ The variable if the person is the head of the household or authorised could not be included as there has not been any variance for participants. 99 percent of participants are the head of the household.

⁸ We included the share for the year 2002, as no later years have been reported before 2005 (Statistische Ämter des Bundes und der Länder 2004).

We estimate the selectivity into One-Euro-Jobs with the help of binary probit models and we take heterogeneity of participants into account by estimating separate models. We compute different models for men and women in East and West Germany for the following reasons: The unemployment rate in West Germany at 9.8 percent in the year 2005 is roughly half as high as that of East Germany.⁹ Hence, the availability and use of One-Euro-Jobs as well as the selection into One-Euro-Jobs is probably different. We conduct separate estimates for men and women as the labour market behaviour is different for men and women.¹⁰ We specify our models by assessing non-linearities in the set of independent variables. Therefore, we use several dummy variables instead of ordinal or metric variables such as age or the cumulated unemployment duration. Then, we test these dummy variables with Wald tests on equal coefficients in the categories. We proceed with the "from general-to specific" approach. We started with the most general model and the largest set of possible independent variables. Then, for testing hypotheses about the coefficients, we chose with the help of Wald tests a simpler and statistically valid specification.¹¹ In order to be able to interpret the coefficients not only for the sign, we calculated marginal effects. Except for regional variables, the variables in the equations are dummy variables. Therefore, the marginal effects are calculated at zero values of the covariates. For the regional variables, which are continuous, we calculated the marginal effects at the weighted means.

As the treatment group is the population of programme starts in the mentioned time frame and the non-participants are only a sample, we use weighted models. Otherwise, the proportion of transition from unemployment into One-Euro-Jobs would be overestimated. Hence, the coefficient for the constant in the probit regression would be biased and as a result, individual selection probabilities would be too high. Therefore, the marginal effects would also be estimated inconsistently as they depend on the individual probabilities (King / Zeng 2001).

Results 6

In Table 4 in the Appendix, you can find the probit estimates for East and West Germany where the effect of gender is quantified. Tables 5 to 6 show the results for all four sub-groups: men and women in East and West Germany. During the next sections, we discuss the results, namely of the variable coherences we have derived within chapter 4. Other variables are important control variables as e.g. regional variables that are highly significant. Therefore, it is important to include them to control for regional impacts beyond East and West German differences.

The rate of registered unemployment is considered here.

¹⁰ The effect of gender in a model with men and women is significant. West German women start a One-Euro-Job with a lower probability than West German men (see Table 4)

We only excluded variables that have been tested out in all models, these are interaction terms with age and unemployment, programme participation during the last year as well as several partner variables (school, employment and unemployment).

We have explained different steps leading to One-Euro-Job participation. As we have not defined a structural model we cannot disentangle the estimated effects and assign the results to a single step. We can only guess from the results that one of the steps may be more important than others.

6.1 Socio-demographics

Gender plays a role in the participation process. West German women participate with a 1.5 percentage point lower probability in a One-Euro-Job than comparable West German men (Table 4). The relationship is the other way around in East Germany. Women in East Germany participate with a 0.63 percentage points higher probability than comparable men. These findings that women in West Germany have a lower participation probability than those in East Germany are in line with results on other active labour market programmes and labour market orientation in general (Caliendo et al. 2004, Heinemann et al. 2006, Holst / Schupp 2001, Wanger 2005). They may be explained, e.g., by different labour market orientations of women as well as by different child care opportunities in both regions. To gain more certainty about the driving factors for the differences a Blinder-Oaxaca decomposition of the effects for logit/probit models (Fairlie 2006) is conducted and described in Section 6.4. However, it is the group of West German women who in evaluation studies shows positive effects with respect to the regular employment rate for public employment programmes such as job creation schemes as well as One-Euro-Jobs (Caliendo et al. 2004; Hohmeyer / Wolff 2007). One explanation for such positive results may be the selective usage of the instrument. We discuss here the results for the separate equations in order to get an explanation for this selection.

The reference transitional probabilities are clearly higher for East Germany than for West Germany (Tables 5 and 6). While in East Germany the reference transitional probabilities equal about twelve percent for men and women, in West Germany this probability is about five percent for men and two for women. In East Germany, there are barely differences in reference transitional probabilities for both men and women whereas in West Germany such differences exist.

Broadly speaking, the probability of participation decreases with age. The probability is highest for those unemployed individuals who are aged 24 or younger. Interestingly, there is no significant difference between the reference group of 15 to 20 year olds and the age group 21 to 24 years. For the older age groups the effects are clearly negative. This can be traced back to the legal requirement that says that unemployed persons below the age of 25 have to be placed to vocational training, employment or work opportunities immediately after having registered unemployed (§3 (2), Social Code II) which is operationalised by the Federal Employment Agency that no person below the age of 25 should be registered unemployed for more than three months (Bundesagentur für Arbeit 2006b).

Besides the negative effect of age we have expected that there would be a weaker effect for persons who are 58 or older than for those between 51 and 57 years. Selectivity may already take place in the decision of older unemployed of being available for the labour market and

still registered as unemployed. There are special regulations for unemployed over 58 years who are allowed to orientate into retirement and do not have to sign an integration contract.¹² Therefore, potential participants ("people at risk") are differently motivated over the age of 58 and are already a selective sample. However, a higher participation probability cannot be observed. The marginal effect is slightly stronger negative than for the next younger age group. Probably, the number of observations for this age group is not large enough or case managers do not expect this age group to participate and thus One-Euro-Jobs are not used as a work test for them.

Unemployed individuals with health problems or disability are potentially harder to place. However, they have even a slightly smaller probability to participate in a One-Euro-Job than unemployed without any health constraints and are not especially promoted by these public employment programmes.

Turning to the influence of nationality, we can state that Germans without migration background have the highest probability to be assigned into a One-Euro-Job. This is contrary to the before mentioned target groups (defined by the Federal Employment Agency). However, this is consistent with the hypothesis of Heckman and Smith (2004) that language skills matter for awareness of a programme which reduces participation probabilities of foreigners. Almost all analysed foreigner and migrant groups have a lower probability to participate compared to comparable Germans. The only exception is the case of unemployed people from the former Soviet Union in East Germany, where no significant effects occur. Turkish unemployed persons have the lowest participation probability compared to German unemployed.

Singles do not seem to have a higher participation probability than unemployed persons with a partner; the effects are insignificant. The only exceptions are West German female singles who have a higher probability than women with a partner (1.8 percentage points). Married women have the lowest participation probability. For unemployed men it does not matter for their participation probability whether they have children or not. West German women have a 1.4 percentage points lower probability to participate if they have a child of less than three years compared to women without children below three years. However, having children or not in general makes no difference for West German women. On the contrary, East German women with children have a higher inclination to start a One-Euro-Job than without (0.9 to 1.7 percentage points). Yet, they have an almost four percentage points lower likelihood to enter the programme with children younger than three years. This is remarkable as persons caring for a child younger than three years do not have to be available to job placement but can register as unemployed on a voluntary basis (\$10 (1), Social Code II). Thus, one could assume that this group is particularly motivated (as argued before for older unemployed over 58 years). However, maybe it is the case managers who do not expect these women to participate in a One-Euro-Job (for example, in the function of One-Euro-Jobs as work tests) or because of lacking

¹² This is regulated in § 65 Abs. 4 SGB II i. V. m. § 428 SGB III.

child care facilities. This points in the direction that the proposal may be an important step for the participation decision.

Turning to qualification it becomes visible that there are also substantial differences for men and women. For men, there are merely no significant effects. In West Germany, there are negative effects for better educated men (with A-level or with GSCE and vocational training). Men in East Germany have a higher participation likelihood with secondary school degree than without. There are more significant effects for women, who have higher participation probabilities with degree than without degree. The highest likelihood for West German women exists for those with a medium qualification compared to no qualification degree (0.7 percentage points higher for secondary school with vocational training with a reference probability of two percent). Better educated East German women have a higher inclination to start a One-Euro-Job (more than four percentage points with a reference probability of 12 percent). Maybe for women without or with low qualification there is a lack of suitable One-Euro-Jobs or they orientate themselves less towards labour market participation.

6.2 Labour market history

Cumulated unemployment duration during the last year as well as during the last five years makes a difference for the assignment into One-Euro-Jobs. Unemployed individuals in all four sub-groups with a longer unemployment duration than six months during the last year are more likely to participate than individuals with a cumulated unemployment duration of less than six months.

Persons with periods in which they have been out-of-labour-force are a target group of One-Euro-Jobs as they are probably more distant to the labour market and first have to learn the preconditions for work. These periods in which persons have neither worked nor had to be available to the labour market may be plausible e.g. for spouses of former UA recipients (or of persons who have been employed before). Also young adults may be affected due to education.¹³ The results show that the existence of times without any registration in unemployment or employment has an impact on the participation. However, this is in the opposite direction than policy guidelines might suggest: Unemployed individuals with such gaps have a lower participation probability than individuals with no such gaps. However, the results are only significant until a certain cumulated duration (for women until 18 months, for men longer, however it is sporadically significant for East German men). Different results for these variables that represent the distance to the labour market may occur because the proxy for out-of-labour-force probably does not measure exactly out-of-labour-force as also times of free-lancing or for civil servants may be included in this variable.

A higher cumulated duration of regular employment during the last five years in East Germany goes along with a lower probability to begin a One-Euro-Job. This points in the direction that

¹³ However, persons not registered may also be freelancer or civil servants.

persons with low labour market attachment are targeted which is actually one of the defined target groups.

Regarding past participation in active labour market programmes one can observe that the number of past programmes is positively related to the participation probability for all groups. This can be regarded as a hint that "programme careers" exist. It could also be a hint that persons with difficulties of finding a job already participated in the past. However, the type of former programme matters: participation in job creation schemes (which are to some extent similar to One-Euro-Jobs) and other programmes increase the probability while private employment subsidies and start-up subsidies decrease the participation probability.

There is a strong negative effect for minor employment on 31st January 2005. This is only surprising at first sight, because on the one hand the needy person should be available for the labour market and should be open to end his/her neediness. On the other hand, minor employment and One-Euro-Jobs are both part-time and could thus be combined within certain limits. However, both the labour market agency and the unemployed individual are better off with only minor employment and without One-Euro-Job: The unemployed person works less with approximately the same earnings. This is less expensive for the agency. Furthermore, One-Euro-Jobs should be targeted at the hard-to-place individuals. However, are persons with a mini job really hard to place? Probably, they have better chances of reintegration coming from their minor employment.

Furthermore, we controlled for variables concerning the last job. Regarding the industry of the last contributory job it becomes obvious that sectors like public administration, defence, social security, health care, education and other services come along with a higher probability of starting a One-Euro-Job compared to manufacturing whereas construction (in East Germany) and retail trade and hotels / restaurants (not for women in West Germany) come along with a lower participation probability. The overall impression is that probability is higher if the industry of the last contributory job is a typical sector in which One-Euro-Jobs exist such as health, education and public administration.¹⁴ This hints to the idea that only those unemployed are proposed for a One-Euro-Job and accepted who are qualified for the job, e.g. by former employment in the particular industry.

6.3 Partner information

Most of the variables with information about the partner do not have a significant influence. Concerning gaps in the employment and unemployment history, which are used as a proxy for out-of-labour-force, the probability to participate in East Germany is higher for individuals whose partner has no such out-of-labour-force times as there are negative signs for durations longer than zero. This is contrary to West Germany, where the participation probability is hig-

Following Bellmann et al. (2006), One-Euro-Jobs are predominantly located in establishments belonging to the industries of public administration, education, health and care and sports and culture.

her for individuals whose partner has out-of-labour-force times larger than zero. However, not all marginal effects are significant. Only the cumulated duration of 43 to 60 months out-of-labour-force is significant for all four groups, negative in East Germany and positive in West Germany.

There seems to be a difference in the assignment mechanism in both regions. In West Germany, individuals whose partner is very distant to the labour market start a One-Euro-Job, whereas in East Germany this is the case for individuals with partners attached to the labour market or at least included in the labour market and employment statistics.

Yet, the partner's current unemployment does not seem to have any influence on the participation. This variable is not significant. Therefore, we cannot support the hypothesis raised by Caliendo et al. (2004) that women in West Germany are more likely to participate if their partner is unemployed (see chapter 3).

Also, the qualification of the partner has no significant effect. But the effect is significant and negative in West Germany for individuals whose partner has only missing information on the qualification and for those whose partner has no identification number. The latter could also be a sign of the partner being very distant to the labour market which supports the above mentioned relationship for West Germany.

6.4 Decomposing participation differences

Analyses of the participant structure show that West German women have a much lower probability of starting a One-Euro-Job than all other groups, thus compared to West German men but also compared to East German women (Bernhard et al. 2006, Wolff / Hohmeyer 2006). Why should women in different regions in Germany have different participation probabilities? There could be various reasons for these differences. On the one hand, differences in the characteristics of women in both regions like the higher educational level or the larger availability of child care facilities in East Germany could account for those differences. On the other hand, differences in the process of selection could be responsible for the gap such as regional differences in the labour market orientation of women or how they are treated by the case workers.

The decomposition analysis technique by Blinder (1973) and Oaxaca (1973) can be used to differentiate between such effects caused by group differences in the distribution of the co-variates X ("characteristics effect") and caused by differences in the process determining the participation ("discrimination effect"). Fairlie (2006) extended this technique which was designed for linear regressions for the decomposition of estimates of probit and logit models.

The decomposition of the differences in the participation probabilities can be written as

$$P^{E} - P^{W} = P^{E} - P^{E}_{W} + P^{E}_{W} - P^{W} = D + Q$$

where P^E is the average probability of women in East Germany to start the programme and P^W the same for West German women. The effect D due to differences in unobserved characteris-

tics (often labelled as "discrimination effect") is defined by the difference of the participation probability of East German women (P^{E}) and the participation probability of East German women if they behaved (or were treated) like West German women (P^{E}_{W}). The effect Q due to differences in characteristics can be written as the difference between participation probability of East German women if they behaved like West German women (P^{E}_{W}) and the participation probability of East German women if they behaved like West German women (P^{E}_{W}) and the participation probability of West German women (P^{W}). In this term the coefficients are held constant. It indicates the extent to which different probabilities starting a One-Euro-Job can be attributed to different observed characteristics of the participants in East and West Germany.¹⁵

We concentrate on the effect Q as we are interested in the differences caused by observable variables. We disaggregate Q in the contributions of the single covariates included in the analyses. Here, we rely on the covariates from the probit models except for the regional classification of labour market types that differs in East and West. Results are displayed in Table 7.¹⁶

Women in East Germany have a 4.4 percentage points higher probability of starting a One-Euro-Job than West German women (7.0 % compared to 2.6 %). More than half of the difference (63.1 %) between the two groups can be explained by differences in the covariates. Characteristics effects account for a difference in probabilities of 2.8 percentage points. One explanation of the difference is the higher share of child care facilities in East Germany. This higher share explains more than six percent of the complete gap in the participation probabilities. Furthermore, structural differences in the population of unemployed benefit recipients can explain the difference to some extent. For example, distinct levels of qualification account for almost 15 % of the differences in the participation probability. The higher level of qualification of East German Women can be seen as one main reason for the higher probability to start a One-Euro-Job of this group. These results are in line with results on female labour market participation in general in East and West Germany (Grundig 2007).

Besides, the participation gap can be partly explained by differences in unemployment duration as well as nationality. For example, the higher share of foreigners in West Germany accounts for 10.2 % of the differences in the participation probabilities.

The unexplained part can probably be traced back to general differences in the intensity of labour market policies between East and West Germany as the participation rate is generally higher in East Germany.

¹⁵ One may also want to compare men and women in West Germany directly. These results are not discussed here and are available on request.

¹⁶ We display results in three versions: the two different decomposition bases East and West as well as estimates from a pooled sample of the two groups. The latter specifies that the coefficients from the pooled model over all cases are used for the decomposition. However, we concentrate in the discussion on the results in the first column (East Germany as base). We used the ado-procedure fairlie.ado which we amended in order to include population weights.

Summary and conclusion 7

In this paper the determinants for unemployed means-tested benefit recipients of starting a One-Euro-Job in spring 2005 are analysed. Furthermore, we wanted to find out whether unemployed with specific problems and unemployed belonging to defined target groups are especially focussed by One-Euro-Jobs. For the analyses, the method of probit analyses has been applied to estimate the determinants of starting a One-Euro-Job for men and women in East and West Germany using rich administrative datasets. The results in the overall model showed that women in West Germany have a much lower probability than men to participate. However, East German women have a higher participation probability than East German men. As selection appears to be different for men and women and in order to investigate these differences, we estimated the models separately for men and women.

Gender specific differences become apparent when considering the impact of children on participation probabilities. For men, children do not make any difference for the likelihood of taking up a One-Euro-Job but they do for women. While children in general do not have an impact on the participation probability of West German women, they increase the chances for East German women. However, both have a lower likelihood of participating if their children are younger than three years. This is remarkable as persons caring for a child with less than three years do not have to be available to job placement but can register as unemployed on a voluntary basis. Thus, one could assume that this group is particularly motivated. However, maybe the probabilities are lower because of lacking child care facilities or because of the case managers who do not expect these women to participate in a One-Euro-Job (for example, in the function of One-Euro-Jobs as work tests).

Turning to qualification it becomes visible that the focus on target groups is even worse for women than for men. Men in West Germany have a lower participation probability with higher qualification. For men in East Germany, there are merely no effects of qualification whereas women have higher participation probabilities with a degree than without one. It could be the case that there is a lack of suitable One-Euro-Jobs for women without or with low qualification or that these women orientate themselves less towards labour market participation.

From analyses of the participation structure of One-Euro-Jobs we know that East German women have a significantly higher likelihood of participating than West German women. We employed a decomposition analysis to investigate to which extent this difference can be attributed to differences in observed characteristics. In our sample the participation probability differs by 4.4 percentage points between East and West German women. More than half of the differences can be explained by differences observed in the values of the covariates.

One element is child care facilities which are traditionally more prevalent in East than in West Germany (Statistische Ämter des Bundes und der Länder 2007) and thus enable women to participate in the labour market. Furthermore, results show that women without a vocational degree are less likely to participate in a One-Euro-Job. In West Germany in 2005, 64 % of unemployed women receiving UB II do not have a qualificational degree. This share is twice as

high as in East Germany where only 32 % of unemployed and needy women do not have a degree (Wolff / Hohmeyer 2006). A decomposition analysis shows that these differences can account to some extent for the differences in the female participation rates between the two German regions. Qualification can account for nearly 15 % of the differences and child care facilities for further 6.6 %. In addition, differences in participation probabilities can be explained partly by the structure of unemployed benefit recipients concerning for example unemployment history and nationality.

Besides gender, age is an important determinant of participation in a One-Euro-Job. The highest probability of participating can be found for unemployed and needy persons below the age of 25 probably due to the legal requirement (§3 (2), Social Code II). Thus, young unemployed people are reached as a special target group but not those who are 50 years and older. Despite their definition as a target group of One-Euro-Jobs foreigners except for those from the former Soviet Union in East Germany have a lower probability of participating than Germans without migration background. This may hint to the importance of language skills. If you consider periods of un- and non-employment in the past as an indicator for labour market distance, the impression is ambiguous. While the cumulated duration of unemployment increases the participation probability, periods out-of-labour force reduce the probability. So, we cannot clearly say whether One-Euro-Jobs focus on persons who are particularly hard to place. Further selection mechanisms are supposed to be at work.

Besides the investigation of the concentration of One-Euro-Jobs on target groups we find several further interesting aspects of selectivity of the programme. First, we find support for the existence of programme careers: The number of participations in active labour market programmes in recent years increases the probability of participating in a One-Euro-Job. Type of programme matters: while participation in job creation schemes and other programmes increase the likelihood, private employment subsidy and start-up subsidy decrease the probability. Second, there is a strong negative effect for minor employment on 31st January 2005. This is only surprising at first sight, because on the one hand the needy person should be available for the labour market and should be open to end his/her neediness. However, both the labour market agency and the unemployed individual are in many cases financially better off with only minor employment than with a One-Euro-Job. Furthermore, One-Euro-Jobs should be targeted at the hard to place individuals. Third, concerning the industry of the last contributory job it becomes obvious that sectors like public administration, defence, social security, health care, education (only in West Germany) and other services increase the probability of starting a One-Euro-Job compared to manufacturing as a last sector whereas construction (in East Germany) and retail trade and hotels / restaurants (not for women in West Germany) decrease the probability. The participation probability seems to be higher if the last sector is a typical sector for One-Euro-Jobs such as health, education and public administration.

So overall, we conclude that target groups are reached only partially. This is in line with results from international workfare studies. Whether this is due to the use of One-Euro-Jobs as a work test or due to cream skimming by case managers or firms or caused by other factors can-

not be answered here. Our results cannot show which step in the theoretical framework mostly influences the participation as all steps should influence the assignment itself. As special target groups are not fully reached with One-Euro-Jobs, it is likely that also the interaction of different steps plays an important role. However, we suggest that the proposal in the local employment agency could be very important as the following steps are based on this decision and the case managers have the opportunity to anticipate the following steps.

References

Bellmann, Lutz, Christian Hohendanner and Markus Promberger (2006): "Welche Arbeitgeber nutzen Ein-Euro-Jobs?" Verbreitung und Einsatzkontexte der SGB II-Arbeitsgelegenheiten in deutschen Betrieben. In: Sozialer Fortschritt 55 (8), 201-207.

Bernhard, Sarah, Katrin Hohmeyer and Eva Jozwiak (2006): "Zweiter Arbeitsmarkt: Im Westen noch nichts Neues". IAB-Kurzbericht 24/2006, Nürnberg.

Blinder, Alan S. (1973): "Wage Discrimination: Reduced Form and Structural Variables". In: Journal of Human Resources 8(4), 436-455.

Bundesagentur für Arbeit (2005): "Arbeitshilfe zur Umsetzung von Arbeitsgelegenheiten nach § 16 Abs. 3 SGB II". (2nd September 2005).

Bundesagentur für Arbeit (2006a): "Kompendium. Aktive Arbeitsmarktpolitik nach dem SGB II". 2nd edition. (http://doku.iab.de/externe/2006/k060410f09.pdf, 13th August 2007).

Bundesagentur für Arbeit (2006b): "Sozialgesetzbuch Zweites Buch – Grundsicherung für Arbeitsuchende, Jahresbericht 2005: Zahlen, Daten, Fakten". (http://www.arbeitsagentur.de/content/de_DE/hauptstelle/a-07/importierter_inhalt/pdf/Jahresbericht_2005_SGB_II.pdf, 24th March 2006).

Bundesministerium für Arbeit und Soziales (2005): "Merkblatt zur Fortsetzung der Bund-Länder-Initiative zur Bekämpfung der Langzeitarbeitslosigkeit Älterer durch Förderung von bis zu dreijährigen Zusatzjobs". (29th December 2005).

Bundesministerium für Wirtschaft und Arbeit (2004): Pressemitteilung. Hintergrundinformationen zum Thema "Arbeitsgelegenheiten bei Hartz IV" (Datum: 18th August 2004). (http://www.bmwa.bund.de/Navigation/arbeit,did=39812,render=renderPrint.html, 8th November 2005).

Caliendo, Marco, Reinhard Hujer and Stephan L. Thomsen (2004): "Evaluation der Eingliederungseffekte von Arbeitsbeschaffungsmaßnahmen in reguläre Beschäftigung für Teilnehmer in Deutschland". In: Zeitschrift für Arbeitsmarktforschung 37(3), 211–237.

Caliendo, Marco, Reinhard Hujer and Stephan L. Thomsen (2005a): "The Employment Effect of Job Creation Schemes in Germany: A Microeconometric Evaluation". IZA Discussion Paper, 1512, Bonn.

Caliendo, Marco, Reinhard Hujer and Stephan Thomsen (2005b): "Individual Employment Effects of Job Creation Schemes in Germany with Respect to Sectoral Heterogeneity". IAB-Discussion Paper No. 13/2005, Nürnberg.

Caliendo, Marco (2006): "Microeconometric Evaluation of Labour Market Policies". Lecture Notes in Economics and Mathematical Systems. Berlin/Heidelberg: Springer.

Fairlie, Robert W. (2006): "An Extension of the Blinder-Oaxaca Decomposition Technique to Logit and Probit Models". IZA Discussion Paper, 1917, Bonn.

Grundig, Beate (2007): "Why is the share of women willing to work in East Germany larger than in West Germany? A logit model of extensive labour supply decision". Unpublished manuscript.

Handler, Joel F. (2003): "Social citizenship and workfare in the US and Western Europe: from status to contract". In: Journal of European Social Policy 13(3), 229-243.

Heckman, James and Jeffrey Smith (2004): "The Determinants of Participation in a Social Program: Evidence from a Prototypical Job Training Program". In: Journal of Labor Economics 22(4), 243–298.

Heinemann, Sarah, Hermann Gartner and Eva Jozwiak (2006): "Arbeitsförderung für Langzeitarbeitslose. Erste Befunde zu Eingliederungsleistungen des SGB III im Rechtskreis SGB II". IAB-Forschungsbericht Nr. 3/2006, Nürnberg.

Hohmeyer, Katrin, Christoph Schöll and Joachim Wolff (2006): "Arbeitsgelegenheiten in der Entgeltvariante. Viele Zielgruppen werden noch vernachlässigt". IAB-Forschungsbericht Nr. 22/2006, Nürnberg.

Hohmeyer, Katrin and Joachim Wolff (2007): "A fistful of Euros. Does One-Euro-Job participation lead means-tested benefit recipients into regular jobs and out of unemployment benefit II receipt?". IAB-Discussion Paper No. 32/2007, Nürnberg.

Holst, Elke and Jürgen Schupp (2001): "Erwerbsverhalten von Frauen: Trotz Annäherung immer noch deutliche Unterschiede zwischen Ost und West". Wochenbericht des DIW Berlin 42/01.

Jacobi, Lena and Jochen Kluve (2007): "Before and After the Hartz Reforms: The Performance of Active Labour Market Policy in Germany". IZA Discussion Paper, 2100, Bonn.

King, Gary and Langche Zeng (2001): "Logistic Regression in Rare Events Data". In: Political Analysis 9(2), 137–163.

Oaxaca, Ronald (1973): "Male-Female Wage Differentials in Urban Labor Markets". In: International Economic Review 14(3), 693-709.

Rüb, Felix and Daniel Werner (2007): "Typisierung von SGB II-Trägern". IAB-Forschungsbericht Nr. 1/2007, Nürnberg.

Statistische Ämter des Bundes und der Länder (2004): "Kindertagesbetreuung regional 2002 – Krippen- Kindergarten- und Hortplätze im Kreisvergleich". Statistisches Bundesamt, Bonn.

Statistische Ämter des Bundes und der Länder (2007): "Kindertagesbetreuung Regional 2006 – Ein Vergleich aller 439 Kreise in Deutschland". Statistisches Bundesamt, Wiesbaden.

Verbeek, Marno (2004): "A Guide to Modern Econometrics". Baffins Lane, Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.

Wanger, Susanne (2005): "Frauen am Arbeitsmarkt – Beschäftigungsgewinne sind nur die halbe Wahrheit". IAB-Kurzbericht 22/2005, Nürnberg.

Wolff, Joachim and Katrin Hohmeyer (2006): "Förderung von arbeitslosen Personen im Rechtskreis des SGB II durch Arbeitsgelegenheiten: Bislang wenig zielgruppenorientiert". IAB-Forschungsbericht Nr. 10/2006, Nürnberg.

Appendix

Table 2 Public employment programmes

Programme	Characteristics
Job creation schemes	- additional works of public utility
	- wage subsidies
	- Participant receives usual wage.
	 Subject to social security contribution except unemployment insurance
	- Duration of up to twelve months
Work opportunities with wage	- Not necessary additional works of public utility
	- wage subsidies
	- Participant receives usual wage.
	- Subject to social security contribution
	- Duration of less than twelve months
One-Euro-Jobs	- additional works of public utility
	- lump sum to the organisation that covers allowance and further costs of carrying out one Euro Jobs.
	 Participant receives allowances of one to two Euros per hour additional to unemployment benefits II.
	- No contribution to social security
	- Duration of normally up to six months

	East (East Germany		West Germany	
	Men	Women	Men	Women	
Age in years					
15-20	0,03	0,03	0,03	0,04	
21-24	0,09	0,07	0,07	0,07	
25-30	0,12	0,10	0,13	0,13	
31-35	0,11	0,12	0,13	0,13	
36-40	0,14	0,16	0,15	0,16	
41-45	0,17	0,18	0,16	0,16	
46-50	0,15	0,15	0,13	0,13	
51-57	0,18	0,18	0,17	0,16	
58-62	0,02	0,01	0,02	0,03	
impairment of health or disabled	0,14	0,10	0,18	0,12	
Nationality					
German without migration background	0,91	0,92	0,73	0,73	
German with migration background	0,02	0,03	0,06	0,06	
Turkish	0,02	0,01	0,08	0,07	
Soviet Union	0,01	0,02	0,03	0,04	
other foreigners	0,03	0,03	0,11	0,10	
No partner	0,60	0,54	0,60	0,63	
Partner, not married	0,11	0,11	0,07	0,07	
Children					
No children	0,76	0,48	0,75	0,61	
One child	0,13	0,27	0,11	0,21	
Two children	0,08	0,18	0,09	0,12	
Three and more children	0,04	0,07	0,06	0,06	
Child under three years (yes)	0,01	0,01	0,01	0,01	
Vocational Education					
no secodary schooling degree/no vocational training	0,13	0,12	0,23	0,28	
Secondary school, no vocational education	0,12	0,11	0,28	0,28	
Secondary school, vocational education	0,30	0,21	0,29	0,20	
GCSE, no vocational training	0,05	0,06	0,04	0,05	
GCSE, vocational training	0,34	0,45	0,08	0,11	
A-levels, no vocational training	0,01	0,01	0,02	0,02	
A-levels, vocational training	0,02	0,02	0,03	0,03	
A-levels, college	0,03	0,02	0,03	0,03	
Cumulated duration of unempl., 02/2004 to 01/2005					
0 to 6 months	0,15	0,17	0,20	0,40	
7 to 12 months	0,85	0,83	0,80	0,60	
Cumulated duration of unempl., 02/2000 to 01/2005					
0 months	0,05	0,08	0,08	0,27	
1 to 6 months	0,07	0,08	0,10	0,14	
7 to 18 months	0,20	0,18	0,26	0,23	
19 to 24 months	0,12	0,10	0,13	0,09	
25 to 30 months	0,13	0,11	0,11	0,07	
31 to 36 months	0,14	0,12	0,10	0,06	
37 to 48 months	0,28	0,33	0,23	0,14	

Table 3 Descriptives for men and women in East and West Germany

Table 3 continuedDescriptives for men and women in East and West Germany

	East Germany		West Germany	
	Men	Women	Men	Women
out-of-labour force during last year	0,21	0,20	0,29	0,44
Cum. dur. neither empl. nor job-seeker, 01/2000 to 12/2004 (out-of-				
labour-force)				
0 months	0,42	0,48	0,28	0,21
1 to 6 months	0,27	0,18	0,33	0,20
7 to 12 months	0,10	0,06	0,10	0,08
13 to 18 months	0,04	0,04	0,06	0,06
19 to 24 months	0,04	0,05	0,04	0,05
25 to 30 months	0,02	0,04	0,03	0,05
31 to 36 months	0,03	0,03	0,03	0,05
37 to 42 months	0,02	0,03	0,03	0,05
43 to 60 months	0,06	0,09	0,09	0,25
Cum. dur. of UI receipt from 02/2004 to 01/2005				
0 months	0,78	0,82	0,77	0,80
1 to 6 months	0,15	0,12	0,15	0,13
7 to 9 months	0,05	0,04	0,05	0,04
10 to 12 months	0,03	0,02	0,03	0,03
Cum. dur. of UI receipt from 02/2000 to 01/2004				
0 months	0,29	0,38	0,35	0,55
1 to 3 months	0,08	0,11	0,08	0,06
4 to 12 months	0,44	0,41	0,44	0,31
13 to 18 months	0,13	0,07	0,10	0,06
> 18 months	0,05	0,03	0,04	0,03
Cum. dur. of UA receipt from 02/2004 to 01/2005	,	,	,	,
0 months	0,19	0,24	0,24	0,51
1 to 3 months	0,07	0,05	0,07	0,05
4 to 6 months	0,10	0,08	0,09	0,06
7 to 9 months	0,11	0,08	0,10	0,07
10 to 12 months	0,53	0,55	0,50	0,31
Cum. dur. of UA receipt from 02/2000 to 01/2004	,	,	,	,
0 months	0,29	0,30	0,37	0,61
1 to 6 months	0,10	0,07	0,12	0,08
7 to 12 months	0,09	0,07	0,10	0,06
13 to 30 months	0,27	0,25	0,21	0,13
31 to 42 months	0,15	0,18	0,10	0,06
43 to 48 months	0,10	0,14	0,10	0,06
UI ben. receipt, Dec. 31st 2004	0,04	0,04	0,03	0,00
UA ben. receipt, Dec. 31st 2004	0,78	0,74	0,73	0,47
Cumulated dur. of regular employment 01/2000 to 12/2004	0,.0	0,11	5,70	5,11
0 months	0,44	0,61	0,36	0,50
1 to 6 months	0,17	0,13	0,00	0,00
7 to 12 months	0,17	0,08	0,14	0,10
13 to 18 months	0,11	0,08	0,13	0,00
19 to 24 months	0,06	0,00	0,13	0,06
25 to 30 months	0,00	0,04	0,03	0,00
31 to 42 months	0,04	0,03	0,07	0,05
43 to 60 months	0,03	0,03	0,03	0,00

Table 3 continued

Descriptives for men and women in East and West Germany

	East Germany		West Germany	
	Men	Women	Men	Women
Interaction terms with age below 25				
Under 25, no voc. training	0,07	0,05	0,08	0,09
Under 25, no regemp	0,07	0,07	0,05	0,07
Under 25, up to 12 months regular employment	0,04	0,02	0,03	0,02
Under 25, more than 12 months regular employment	0,01	0,01	0,02	0,02
ALMP participation in the last five years (yes)				
Job creation schemes	0,28	0,26	0,07	0,03
Private employment subsidy	0,10	0,07	0,07	0,03
Further vocational training	0,21	0,22	0,15	0,11
Retraining	0,04	0,03	0,04	0,03
Short-term training (classroom)	0,31	0,35	0,32	0,24
Short-term training (practical)	0,10	0,07	0,09	0,05
Other short-term training	0,02	0,01	0,02	0,01
Startup subsidy	0,02	0,01	0,03	0,01
Private placement service (§37), some tasks of placement	0,03	0,03	0,06	0,04
Private placement service (§37), all tasks of placement	0,05	0,04	0,04	0,03
Other ALMP	0,06	0,07	0,06	0,06
Time since end of last ALMP			,	,
1 to 6 months	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00
7 to 12 months	0,19	0,17	0,17	0,13
13 to 24 months	0,14	0,13	0,12	0,09
> 24 months	0,16	0,15	0,13	0,09
Number of ALMPs in last five years				
No programme participation	0,27	0,29	0,37	0,54
One	0,27	0,27	0,28	0,23
Тwo	0,22	0,22	0,17	0,12
Three	0,13	0,13	0,09	0,06
Four	0,06	0,06	0,04	0,03
Five and more	0,05	0,04	0,04	0,02
Last professional status				
blue-collar worker	0,33	0,21	0,51	0,25
Skilled worker / foreman	0,29	0,12	0,17	0,04
White-collar worker	0,09	0,20	0,11	0,18
Part-time	0,17	0,30	0,07	0,21
No job yet	0,11	0,17	0,14	0,33
Firm size of last contributory job				
1 to 20 employees	0,27	0,21	0,29	0,21
21 to 50 employees	0,13	0,10	0,14	0,10
51 to 100 employees	0,12	0,11	0,12	0,09
101 to 400 employees	0,22	0,24	0,18	0,16
> 400 employees	0,11	0,14	0,11	0,09
Missing	0,04	0,03	0,04	0,03
No job yet	0,11	0,17	0,14	0,33
Last regular monthly real wage (deflated with CPI, 2000=100)				
Zero	0,03	0,04	0,05	0,07
>0 to 500 Euro	0,05	0,05	0,05	0,07
>500 to 1000 Euro	0,26	0,33	0,12	0,18
>1000 to 1500 Euro	0,36	0,32	0,24	0,19
>1500 to 2000 Euro	0,13	0,06	0,22	0,10
> 2000 Euro	0,06	0,03	0,18	0,06
Time since end of last contributory job				
1 to 6 months	0,13	0,09	0,10	0,08
7 to 12 months	0,09	0,07	0,07	0,06
13 to 24 months	0,17	0,14	0,17	0,14
25 to 36 months	0,14	0,12	0,15	0,11
37 to 48 months	0,11	0,10	0,12	0,08
> 48 months	0,25	0,30	0,25	0,21

Table 3 continuedDescriptives for men and women in East and West Germany

	East G	ermany	West C	Germany
	Men	Women	Men	Women
Average duration of contributory jobs between 01/2000 and				
12/2004	0.07	0.40	0.04	0.47
1 to 6 months 7 to 12 months	0,27	0,18	0,24	0,17
	0,25	0,21	0,21	0,15
13 to 24 months 25 to 36 months	0,16	0,17	0,17	0,14
37 to 60 months	0,03 0,02	0,03 0,01	0,04 0,02	0,04 0,02
Missing	0,02 0,17	0,01	0,02	0,02
Number of contributory jobs in last five years	0,17	0,22	0,17	0,15
None	0,28	0,39	0,31	0,48
One	0,20	0,41	0,37	0,30
Тмо	0,24	0,16	0,23	0,16
Three or more	0,08	0,04	0,09	0,06
Minor employment, Jan. 31st 2005	0,07	0,13	0,09	0,14
Partner's cum. Dur. Neither empl. Nor job-seeker nor	- , -	-, -	-,	- /
unemployment benefit receipt (proxy for out-of-labour force),				
01/2000 to 12/2004				
0 months	0,14	0,18	0,04	0,08
1 to 24 months	0,11	0,16	0,09	0,15
25 to 30 months	0,02	0,01	0,02	0,01
37 to 42 months	0,01	0,01	0,02	0,01
43 to 60 months	0,12	0,10	0,22	0,10
No partner	0,60	0,54	0,60	0,63
Partner education	_			-
No secodary schooling degree/no vocational training	0,04	0,04	0,10	0,08
Secondary school, no vocational education	0,05	0,05	0,07	0,09
Secondary school, vocational education	0,05	0,10	0,03	0,06
GCSE or A-levels, vocational education or college	0,11	0,12	0,03	0,03
Partner without bak_id	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00
No ieb_konto_id	0,05	0,06	0,06	0,04
Missing	0,09	0,10	0,12	0,06
Partner unemployed, Jan. 31st 2005	0,21	0,24	0,16	0,22
Looking for part-time job	07.40	0,06	0.00	0,22
Proportion of childcare under 3	37,49	37,70	3,69	3,88
No job yet	0,11	0,17	0,14	0,33
Job with missing sector	0,11	0,16	0,13	0,12
Agriculture, forestry, fishing, mining, energy and water supply	0,07	0,05	0,02	0,00
Food and tobacco	0,01	0,01	0,01	0,02
Wood, paper, publishing, printing	0,01	0,00	0,01	0,01
Chemical industry, engineering, vehical construction Other manufacturing	0,01 0,04	0,00 0,03	0,03 0,07	0,01 0,04
Construction	0,04 0,16	0,03	0,07	0,04
Wholesale trade and car sales	0,10	0,03	0,10	0,01
	0,02	0,01	0,03	0,03
Retail trade and hotels/restaurants Transport and communication	0,04 0,03	0,10	0,07	0,11
Services for companies	0,03 0,13	0,01	0,05	0,02 0,12
Public administration, defence, social security agencies	0,13	0,09	0,17	0,12
Education	0,00	0,07	0,03	0,02
Health care, veterinarian and social services	0,00	0,00	0,03	0,03
Other services	0,03	0,07	0,04	0,06
Local unempl. rate in January 2005	22,87	22,99	13,03	13,17
%age change in local unempl. rate in January 2005	8,31	8,24	14,83	16,40
Percentage of LTU in Jan. 2005	39,85	40,05	33,47	32,74
otal %age change of percentage of LTU in Jan. 2005	-3,01	-2,77	0,00	-1,11
/acancy-unemployment ratio in January 2005	0,01	0,01	0,00	0,04
%age change vacancy-unemployment ratio in January 2005	-10,50	-10,34	-7,88	-9,54
Cities with below average LM conditions, high LTU	0,42	0,40	0,19	0,19
Jrban areas with average labour market cond.	0,01	0,01	0,10	0,10
Rural areas with below average LM conditions	0,09	0,09	0,04	0,04
Rural areas in East Germany with severe LM conditions	0,32	0,32	0,00	0,00
Rural areas in East Germany with svery evere LM conditions	0,16	0,18	0,00	0,00
Cities in West Germany with average labour market conditions	0,00	0,00	0,18	0,18
Cities in West Germany with above-average labour market condition	0,00	0,00	0,05	0,05
Rural areas in West Germany with average LM conditions	0,00	0,00	0,19	0,17
Rural areas in W. G. with above average LM conditions and high sec	0,00	0,00	0,05	0,06
Rural areas in W. G., very favourite LM cond., seasonal dynamics a	0,00	0,00	0,04	0,05
Rural areas in W. G., very favourite LM cond. and low LTU	0,00	0,00	0,09	0,09

Table 4 Probit Estimates for East and West Germany

	East G.		West G.	
	marginal effect	SE	marginal effect	SE
Reference transitional probability	0.1093		0.0639	
Age in years	(reference is 15 to 20 ye	ears)		
21-24	-0.0013	0.0043	-0.0043	0.0023
25-30	-0.0923 ***	0.0082	-0.0458 ***	0.0047
31-35	-0.0880 ***	0.0079	-0.0457 ***	0.0047
36-40	-0.0867 ***	0.0078	-0.0447 ***	0.0046
41-45	-0.0855 ***	0.0077	-0.0437 ***	0.0046
46-50	-0.0848 ***	0.0077	-0.0456 ***	0.0047
51-57	-0.0873 ***	0.0079	-0.0504 ***	0.0051
58-62	-0.0966 ***	0.0087	-0.0578 ***	0.0057
Impairment of health or disabled	-0.0087 ***	0.0018	-0.0081 ***	0.0012
Nationality	(reference is German)			
German with migration background	-0.0275 ***	0.0038	-0.0127 ***	0.0018
Turkish	-0.0574 ***	0.0055	-0.0306 ***	0.0028
former Soviet Union	-0.0086	0.0045	-0.0179 ***	0.0024
Other foreigners	-0.0481 ***	0.0046	-0.0250 ***	0.0023
Women (yes)	0.0063 ***	0.0014	-0.0153 ***	0.0015
No partner	-0.0012	0.0039	0.0143	0.0028
Partner, not married	0.0004	0.0021	0.0072 ***	0.0018
Children	(reference is no child)			
One child	0.0085 ***	0.0018	0.0004	0.0012
Two children	0.0133 ***	0.0023	-0.0004	0.0014
Three and more children	0.0037	0.0028	0.0010	0.0018
Child below three (yes)	-0.0153 **	0.0056	-0.0096 **	0.0030
Vocational Education	(reference is no second	ary schooling	g degree/	
	no vocational training)			
Secondary school, no vocational education	0.0124 ***	0.0027	0.0034 **	0.0011
Secondary school, vocational education	0.0203 ***	0.0027	0.0030 *	0.0012
GCSE, no vocational training	0.0071 *	0.0032	0.0011	0.0019
GCSE, vocational training	0.0177 ***	0.0025	0.0003	0.0016
A-levels, no vocational training	-0.0057	0.0066	-0.0071 **	0.0027
A-levels, vocational training	0.0200 ***	0.0048	-0.0020	0.0022
A-levels, college	0.0024	0.0043	-0.0097 ***	0.0024
Cumulated duration of unempl., 02/2004 to 01/2005	(reference is 0 to 6 mon	ths)		
7 to 12 months	0.0272 ***	0.0031	0.0154 ***	0.0020
Cumulated duration of unempl., 02/2000 to 01/2005	(reference is none)			
1 to 6 months	0.0182 ***	0.0042	0.0193 ***	0.0026
7 to 18 months	0.0157 ***	0.0045	0.0214 ***	0.0029
19 to 30 months	0.0214 ***	0.0050	0.0239 ***	0.0033
31 to 36 months	0.0141 **	0.0053	0.0183 ***	0.0035
37 to 48 months	0.0081	0.0053	0.0195 ***	0.0037
Out-of-labour force during last year	-0.0103 ***	0.0020	-0.0060 ***	0.0012
Cum. dur. neither empl. nor job-seeker, 01/2000 to 12/2004 (out-of	-			
labour-force)	(reference is none)			
1 to 6 months	-0.0125 ***	0.0017	-0.0056 ***	0.0011
7 to 12 months	-0.0157 ***	0.0027	-0.0129 ***	0.0018
13 to 18 months	-0.0123 ***	0.0033	-0.0099 ***	0.0020
19 to 24 months	-0.0071 *	0.0036	-0.0072 **	0.0022
25 to 30 months	-0.0122 **	0.0040	-0.0079 **	0.0024
31 to 36 months	-0.0065	0.0045	0.0002	0.0026
37 to 42 months	0.0026	0.0051	0.0015	0.0028
43 to 60 months	-0.0091	0.0051	-0.0003	0.0028
Cum. dur. of UI receipt from 02/2004 to 01/2005	(reference is none)			
1 to 6 months	-0.0084 **	0.0026	-0.0037 *	0.0017
7 to 9 months	-0.0089 *	0.0040	-0.0073 **	0.0025
10 to 12 months	-0.0045	0.0054	-0.0021	0.0033

Table 4continuedProbit Estimates for East and West Germany

	East G.		West G.	
	marginal effect	SE	marginal effect	SE
Cum. dur. of UI receipt from 02/2000 to 01/2004	(reference is none)			
1 to 3 months	0.0015	0.0025	0.0018	0.0018
4 to 12 months	-0.0007	0.0022	-0.0013	0.0016
13 to 18 months	0.0093 **	0.0032	-0.0031	0.0020
> 18 months	0.0014	0.0040	-0.0036	0.0028
Cum. dur. of UA receipt from 02/2004 to 01/2005	(reference is none)			
1 to 3 months	0.0042	0.0051	0.0046	0.0032
4 to 6 months	0.0029	0.0049	0.0006	0.0030
7 to 9 months	-0.0097 *	0.0047	-0.0072 *	0.0029
10 to 12 months	-0.0078	0.0048	-0.0039	0.0030
Cum. dur. of UA receipt from 02/2000 to 01/2004	(reference is none)			
1 to 6 months	-0.0072 *	0.0028	-0.0028	0.0017
7 to 12 months	-0.0106 ***	0.0031	-0.0041	0.0019
13 to 30 months	-0.0151 ***	0.0031	-0.0086 ***	0.0020
31 to 42 months	-0.0198 ***	0.0037	-0.0147 ***	0.0026
43 to 48 months	-0.0247 ***	0.0042	-0.0213 ***	0.0030
UI ben. receipt, Dec. 31st 2004	-0.0065	0.0044	0.0055	0.0031
UA ben. receipt, Dec. 31st 2004	0.0221 ***	0.0044	0.0098 ***	0.0027
Cumulated dur. of regular employment 01/2000 to 12/2004	(reference is none)			
1 to 6 months	0.0057 *	0.0025	0.0084 **	0.0027
7 to 12 months	-0.0026	0.0027	0.0046	0.0027
13 to 18 months	-0.0109 ***	0.0030	0.0051	0.0030
19 to 24 months	-0.0175 ***	0.0037	-0.0003	0.0031
25 to 30 months	-0.0239 ***	0.0042	-0.0008	0.0035
31 to 42 months	-0.0345 ***	0.0046	-0.0039	0.0036
43 to 60 months	-0.0512 ***	0.0062	-0.0158 ***	0.0040
Interaction terms with age below 25				
Under 25, no voc. training	-0.0094 *	0.0039	-0.0027	0.0026
- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	(reference is under 25, r			
Under 25, up to 12 months regular employment	-0.0156 ***	0.0045	-0.0105 ***	0.0027
Under 25, more than 12 months regular employment	-0.0141 *	0.0058	-0.0094 **	0.0029
ALMP participation in the last five years (yes)				
Job creation schemes	0.0156 ***	0.0028	0.0209 ***	0.0030
Private employment subsidy	-0.0219 ***	0.0026	-0.0094 ***	0.0018
Further vocational training	0.0041 *	0.0019	0.0029 *	0.0013
Retraining	-0.0063 *	0.0032	0.0000	0.0021
Short-term training (classroom)	-0.0037 *	0.0018	0.0033 *	0.0013
Short-term training (practical)	-0.0056 *	0.0023	0.0038 *	0.0016
Other short-term training	0.0031	0.0047	0.0067 *	0.0029
Startup subsidy	-0.0334 ***	0.0043	-0.0230 ***	0.0026
Private placement service (§37), some tasks of placement	-0.0086 *	0.0034	-0.0054 **	0.0018
Private placement service (§37), all tasks of placement	-0.0039	0.0029	-0.0051 **	0.0019
other ALMP	0.0274 ***	0.0038	0.0226 ***	0.0028
Time since end of last ALMP	(reference is 1 to 6 mon		010220	010020
7 to 12 months	0.0177 ***	0.0026	0.0116 ***	0.0018
13 to 24 months	0.0097 ***	0.0020	0.0082 ***	0.0010
> 24 months	0.0027	0.0020	0.0053 ***	0.0015
Number of ALMPs in last five years	(reference is none)	0.0020	0.0000	0.0010
One	0.0186 ***	0.0027	0.0114 ***	0.0018
Two	0.0332 ***	0.0027	0.0173 ***	0.0018
Three	0.0332	0.0040	0.0235 ***	0.0028
Four	0.0407 ***	0.0050	0.0235	0.0033
Five and more	0.0407	0.0060	0.0278	0.0043
	0.0420	0.0009	0.0307	0.0054

Table 4 continued Probit Estimates for East and West Germany

	East G.		West G.	
	marginal effect	SE	marginal effect	SE
Industry of last contributory job	(reference is manufacto	ring)		
Job with missing sector	-0.0114 **	0.0041	-0.0005	0.0027
Agriculture, forestry, fishing, mining, energy and water supply	-0.0049	0.0037	0.0244 ***	0.0042
Food and tobacco	-0.0091	0.0060	-0.0008	0.0032
Wood, paper, publishing, printing	0.0045	0.0081	-0.0006	0.0035
Chemical industry, engineering, vehical construction	0.0038	0.0075	0.0001	0.0030
Construction	-0.0177 ***	0.0036	0.0010	0.0022
Wholesale trade and car sales	-0.0082	0.0050	-0.0043	0.0024
Retail trade and hotels/restaurants	-0.0208 ***	0.0039	-0.0034	0.0021
Transport and communication	-0.0084	0.0045	-0.0063 **	0.0024
Services for companies	-0.0036	0.0035	0.0056 **	0.0019
Public adminstration, defense, social security agencies	0.0252 ***	0.0043	0.0382 ***	0.0042
Education	0.0005	0.0039	0.0252 ***	0.0037
Health care, veterinarian and social services	0.0212 ***	0.0043	0.0313 ***	0.0034
Other services	0.0083 *	0.0035	0.0120 ***	0.0025
Last professional status	(reference is blue-collar	worker)		
Skilled worker / foreman	-0.0058 ***	0.0017	-0.0075 ***	0.0013
White-collar worker	-0.0035	0.0020	-0.0099 ***	0.0014
Part-time	-0.0003	0.0017	-0.0039 **	0.0013
No job yet	-0.0049	0.0064	0.0012	0.0040
Firm size of last contributory job	(reference is 1 to 20 em	ployees)		
21 to 50 employees	0.0047 *	0.0021	0.0057 ***	0.0014
51 to 100 employees	0.0031	0.0021	0.0083 ***	0.0016
101 to 400 employees	0.0014	0.0018	0.0050 ***	0.0013
> 400 employees	-0.0047 *	0.0021	0.0037 *	0.0016
Missing	-0.0040	0.0032	-0.0018	0.0022
Last regular monthly real wage (deflated with CPI, 2000=100)	(reference is none)			
>0 to 500 Euro	0.0122 **	0.0044	0.0159 ***	0.0028
>500 to 1000 Euro	0.0217 ***	0.0037	0.0183 ***	0.0025
>1000 to 1500 Euro	0.0216 ***	0.0036	0.0200 ***	0.0024
>1500 to 2000 Euro	0.0105 **	0.0038	0.0133 ***	0.0022
> 2000 Euro	-0.0006	0.0043	0.0041	0.0021
Time since end of last contributory job	(reference is 1 to 6 mon	ths)		
7 to 12 months	0.0063 *	0.0030	-0.0001	0.0018
13 to 24 months	0.0103 ***	0.0029	-0.0013	0.0016
25 to 36 months	0.0063 *	0.0029	-0.0010 .	
37 to 48 months	0.0014	0.0030	-0.0056 **	0.0019
> 48 months	-0.0005	0.0032	-0.0089 ***	0.0022
Average duration of contributory jobs between 01/2000 and 12/2004	(reference is 1 to 6 mon	ths)		
7 to 12 months	0.0063 **	0.0020	0.0003	0.0014
13 to 24 months	0.0090 ***	0.0027	-0.0028	0.0018
25 to 36 months	0.0125 *	0.0049	-0.0079 **	0.0028
37 to 60 months	0.0179 *	0.0074	-0.0044	0.0037
Number of contributory jobs in last five years	(reference is none)			
One	-0.0048	0.0036	-0.0078 *	0.0031
Тwo	0.0047	0.0045	-0.0076 *	0.0035
Three or more	0.0082	0.0054	-0.0051	0.0038
Minor employment, Jan. 31st 2005	-0.0496 ***	0.0039	-0.0300 ***	0.0027
Partner's cum. Dur. Neither empl. Nor job-seeker nor unemploymen				
benefit receipt (proxy for out-of-labour force), 01/2000 to 12/2004	(reference is none)	0.000	0.0017	0.000
1 to 24 months	-0.0051 *	0.0021	0.0017	0.0021
25 to 30 months	-0.0049	0.0052	0.0136 **	0.0042
31 to 36 months	-0.0086	0.0054	0.0112 **	0.0041
37 to 42 months	-0.0083	0.0058	0.0162 ***	0.0043
43 to 60 months	-0.0111 ***	0.0031	0.0168 ***	0.0025



Table 4continuedProbit Estimates for East and West Germany

	East G.		West G.	
	marginal effect	SE	marginal effect	SE
Partner education	(no secodary schooling	degree/		
	no vocational training)			
Secondary school, no vocational education	0.0016	0.0039	0.0008	0.0019
Secondary school, vocational education	0.0025	0.0037	0.0010	0.0024
GCSE or A-levels, vocational education or college	0.0000	0.0034	-0.0020	0.0027
Partner ID is missing	-0.0019	0.0047	-0.0162 ***	0.0026
Partner ID available but partner education is missing	-0.0066	0.0039	-0.0094 ***	0.0021
Partner unemployed, Jan. 31st 2005	-0.0050 *	0.0025	-0.0028	0.0017
Regional variables (district level)				
Local unempl. rate in January 2005	-0.0016 ***	0.0003	0.0018 ***	0.0002
%age change in local unempl. rate in January 2005	-0.0012 ***	0.0002	-0.0008 ***	0.0001
Percentage of LTU in Jan. 2005	0.0002	0.0002	-0.0007 ***	0.0001
Total %age change of percentage of LTU in Jan. 2005	-0.0020 ***	0.0001	0.0000	0.0001
Vacancy-unemployment ratio in January 2005	0.5957 ***	0.1019	-0.0571	0.0168
%age change vacancy-unemployment ratio in January 2005	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000 ***	0.0000
	(reference is Cities with	below average	ge	
	LM conditions, high LTL	J)		
Urban areas with average LM conditions	0.1051 ***	0.0113	0.0229 ***	0.0023
Rural areas with below average LM conditions	0.0509 ***	0.0041	0.0260 ***	0.0035
Rural areas in East Germany with severe LM conditions	0.0312 ***	0.0028		
Rural areas in East Germany with very severe LM conditions	0.0102 **	0.0031		
	0.0002 ***	0.0001	0.0021 ***	0.0001
Cities in West Germany with average LM conditions			0.0169 ***	0.0022
Cities in West Germany with above-average LM conditions			0.0441 ***	0.0042
Rural areas in West Germany with average LM conditions			0.0518 ***	0.0042
Rural areas in W. G. with above average LM conditions and high				
seasonal dynamics			0.1051 ***	0.0076
Rural areas in W. G., very favourite LM cond., seasonal dynamics				
and low LTU			0.0717 ***	0.0063
Rural areas in W. G., very favourite LM cond. and low LTU			0.0730 ***	0.0059
Proportion of childcare under 3	0.0002 ***	0.0001	0.0000 ***	0.0000
AIC	71439.10		56961.48	
BIC	72960.36		58568.38	
Number of Observations	153722		205871	
Log of the Likelihood	-35566.55		-28323.74	
Pseudo R ²	0.0714		0.0856	

* p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001

Table 5								
Probit Estimates	for	men	and	women	in	East	German	Y

Men marginal effect 0.1148 (reference is 15 to 20 yes	SE	Women marginal effect 0.1140	SE
(reference is 15 to 20 year		0 11 10	
		0.1140	
0.0027	ars)		
-0.0037	0.0063	0.0018	0.0063
-0.0970 ***	0.0122	-0.0953 ***	0.0120
-0.0923 ***	0.0117	-0.0914 ***	0.0116
-0.0911 ***	0.0116	-0.0900 ***	0.0115
-0.0883 ***	0.0113	-0.0900 ***	0.0115
-0.0882 ***	0.0113	-0.0882 ***	0.0113
-0.0908 ***	0.0116	-0.0909 ***	0.0116
-0.1010 ***	0.0128	-0.1007 ***	0.0128
-0.0073 **	0.0024	-0.0104 ***	0.0030
(reference is German)			
-0.0239 ***	0.0056	-0.0339 ***	0.0058
-0.0614 ***	0.0080		0.0084
-0.0125	0.0068		0.0065
-0.0556 ***	0.0069	-0.0408 ***	0.0065
-0.0080	0.0058	0.0008	0.0056
			0.0031
	0.0027	0.0127 ***	0.0027
			0.0033
			0.0041
			0.0097
		g dog.00,	
•	0 0035	0 0245 ***	0.0048
			0.0052
			0.0055
			0.0052
			0.0108
			0.0083
			0.0074
	,	0.0331 ***	0.0050
	0 0068	0 0090	0.0056
			0.0061
			0.0070
			0.0076
			0.0076
			0.0031
(reference is none)			
	0.0023	-0.0133 ***	0.0027
-0.0192 ***	0.0038		0.0043
-0.0121 **	0.0046	-0.0148 **	0.0050
-0.0097	0.0053	-0.0059	0.0052
-0.0207 ***	0.0063		0.0057
-0.0169 *	0.0067		0.0068
-0.0013	0.0074		0.0077
-0.0153 *	0.0076		0.0074
	0.0035	-0.0105 **	0.0041
			0.0061
			0.0082
	$\begin{array}{c} -0.0911 & *** \\ -0.0883 & *** \\ -0.0882 & *** \\ -0.0908 & *** \\ -0.0073 & ** \\ (reference is German) \\ -0.0239 & *** \\ -0.0614 & *** \\ -0.0125 \\ -0.0556 & *** \\ -0.0080 \\ -0.0024 \\ (reference is no child) \\ -0.003 \\ 0.0050 \\ -0.0051 \\ -0.0014 \\ (reference is no seconda no vocational training) \\ 0.0072 & * \\ 0.0103 & ** \\ -0.0015 \\ 0.0014 \\ (reference is no seconda no vocational training) \\ 0.0072 & * \\ 0.0013 & ** \\ -0.0015 \\ 0.0014 \\ (reference is no no seconda no vocational training) \\ 0.0072 & * \\ 0.0103 & ** \\ -0.0015 \\ 0.0014 \\ (reference is no ne) \\ 0.0311 & *** \\ 0.0251 & *** \\ (reference is none) \\ 0.0311 & *** \\ 0.0251 & *** \\ 0.0125 & *** \\ (reference is none) \\ -0.0123 & *** \\ -0.0123 & *** \\ -0.0123 & *** \\ -0.0121 & ** \\ -0.0097 \\ -0.0207 & *** \\ -0.0169 & * \\ -0.0013 \\ \end{array}$	-0.0911 **** 0.0116 -0.0883 *** 0.0113 -0.0882 *** 0.0113 -0.0908 *** 0.0116 -0.1010 *** 0.0128 -0.0073 ** 0.0024 (reference is German) -0.0239 *** 0.0056 -0.0614 *** 0.0080 -0.0125 0.0068 -0.0556 *** 0.0069 -0.0080 0.0058 -0.0024 0.0037 0.0050 0.0034 -0.0051 0.0045 -0.0014 0.0076 (reference is no secondary schoolin no vocational training) 0.0072 * 0.0032 -0.0015 0.0045 0.0014 0.0032 -0.0015 0.0045 0.0014 0.0030 -0.0059 0.0088 0.0071 0.0063 -0.0059 0.0088 0.0071 0.0063 -0.0059 0.0089 (reference is none) 0.0311 *** 0.0079 0.0251 *** 0.0041 (reference is none) (reference is none) (reference is none) -0.0123 *** 0.0028 (reference is none) -0.0123 *** 0.0028 -0.0125 *** 0.0028 (reference is none) -0.0123 *** 0.0028 (reference is none) -0.0123 *** 0.0028 (reference is none) -0.0123 *** 0.0028 -0.0125 *** 0.0028 (reference is none) -0.0123 *** 0.0028 -0.0125 *** 0.0028 (reference is none) -0.0123 *** 0.0028 -0.0125 *** 0.0028 -0.0125 *** 0.0028 (reference is none) -0.0123 *** 0.0028 -0.0125 *** 0.0	-0.0911 *** 0.0116 -0.0900 *** -0.0883 *** 0.0113 -0.0882 *** -0.0908 *** 0.0116 -0.0909 *** -0.0010 *** 0.0128 -0.1007 *** -0.0073 ** 0.0024 -0.0104 *** (reference is German) -0.0239 *** 0.0056 -0.0339 *** -0.0614 *** 0.0080 -0.0565 *** -0.0125 0.0068 -0.0064 -0.0556 *** 0.0069 -0.0408 *** -0.0080 0.0058 0.0008 -0.0024 0.0030 0.0013 (reference is no child) -0.003 0.0027 0.0127 *** 0.0050 0.0034 0.0170 *** -0.0051 0.0045 0.0094 * -0.0051 0.0045 0.0094 * -0.0014 0.0076 -0.0384 *** (reference is no secondary schooling degree/ no vocational training) 0.0072 * 0.0032 0.0393 *** -0.0015 0.0045 0.0247 *** 0.0015 0.0045 0.0247 *** 0.0015 0.0045 0.0247 *** 0.0017 0.0063 0.0425 *** -0.0059 0.0088 -0.0011 0.0071 0.0063 0.0425 *** -0.0059 0.0088 -0.0011 0.0071 0.0063 0.0418 *** -0.0069 0.0059 0.1196 ** (reference is no fe months) 0.0235 *** 0.0041 0.0331 *** (reference is none) (reference is none) (reference is none) (reference is none) -0.0123 *** 0.0023 -0.0133 *** (reference is none) -0.0123 *** 0.0071 0.0088 0.0315 *** 0.0079 0.0144 * 0.0206 ** 0.0080 0.0113 0.0153 0.0080 0.0039 -0.015 0.0045 0.0031 *** (reference is none) -0.0123 *** 0.0023 -0.0133 *** -0.0059 0.0059 0.0144 ** -0.0059 0.0059 0.0114 ** -0.0012 ** 0.0063 -0.0059 -0.0251 *** 0.0063 -0.0059 -0.0251 *** 0.0063 -0.0059 -0.0125 *** 0.0063 -0.0059 -0.0125 *** 0.0063 -0.0059 -0.0126 *** 0.0063 -0.0059 -0.0126 *** 0.0063 -0.0059 -0.0014 ** -0.0080 * 0.0053 -0.0155 ** -0.0080 * 0.0035 -0.0105 ** -0.0080 * 0.0035 -0.0105 **

Table 5continuedProbit Estimates for men and women in East Germany

Men harginal effect eference is none) -0.0006 0.0020 0.0096 *	SE 0.0038	Women marginal effect	SE
-0.0006 0.0020		0 0005	
0.0020		a aaa=	
		0.0025	0.0036
0.0096 *	0.0034	-0.0042	0.0033
0.0000	0.0044	0.0121 *	0.0051
0.0059	0.0056	-0.0061	0.0063
eference is none)			
0.0070	0.0071	-0.0046	0.0078
0.0095	0.0070	-0.0111	0.0073
-0.0046	0.0067	-0.0207 **	0.0072
-0.0037	0.0068	-0.0187 *	0.0072
eference is none)			
-0.0064	0.0039	-0.0090 *	0.0045
-0.0080	0.0043	-0.0158 ***	0.0048
-0.0134 **	0.0044	-0.0198 ***	0.0048
-0.0159 **	0.0053	-0.0260 ***	0.0057
-0.0242 ***	0.0061	-0.0277 ***	0.0064
-0.0166 **	0.0061	0.0036	0.0072
0.0098	0.0054	0.0447 ***	0.0085
eference is none)			
0.0052	0.0034	0.0067	0.0039
-0.0032	0.0037	-0.0013	0.0044
-0.0108 **	0.0041	-0.0109 *	0.0047
-0.0160 **	0.0050	-0.0207 ***	0.0059
-0.0253 ***	0.0057	-0.0227 ***	0.0067
-0.0378 ***	0.0064	-0.0309 ***	0.0072
-0.0550 ***	0.0087	-0.0500 ***	0.0097
-0.0072	0.0055	-0.0194 **	0.0060
eference is under 25, r	no regular er		
-0.0100	0.0063		0.0071
-0.0019	0.0084	-0.0340 ***	0.0087
0.0145 ***	0.0038	0.0189 ***	0.0048
-0.0209 ***	0.0036	-0.0240 ***	0.0042
0.0026	0.0026	0.0057	0.0030
-0.0049	0.0044	-0.0073	0.0050
-0.0032	0.0025		0.0027
-0.0056	0.0031		0.0036
			0.0074
			0.0072
			0.0051
			0.0044
			0.0054
	ths)		
	-	0.0256 ***	0.0043
			0.0036
			0.0031
,	0 0037	0.0215 ***	0.0042
			0.0042
			0.0078
			0.0095
			0.0033
	0.0095 -0.0046 -0.0037 reference is none) -0.0064 -0.0134 ** -0.0159 ** -0.0242 *** -0.0166 ** 0.0098 reference is none) 0.0052 -0.0032 -0.0108 ** -0.0160 ** -0.0160 ** -0.0253 *** -0.0378 *** -0.0378 *** -0.0378 *** -0.0072 reference is under 25, r -0.0100 -0.0019 0.0145 *** -0.0209 *** 0.0026 -0.0049 -0.0029 *** 0.0026 -0.0049 -0.0032 -0.0056 0.0065 -0.0304 *** 0.0017 -0.0008 -0.0018 ***	0.0070 0.0071 0.0095 0.0070 -0.0046 0.0067 -0.0037 0.0068 reference is none) -0.0080 0.0043 -0.0134 ** 0.0044 -0.0159 ** 0.0053 -0.0242 *** 0.0061 -0.0166 ** 0.0061 0.0098 0.0054 reference is none) 0.0052 0.0034 -0.0032 0.0037 -0.0108 ** 0.0041 -0.0160 ** 0.0050 -0.0253 *** 0.0057 -0.0378 *** 0.0064 -0.0550 *** 0.0087 -0.0378 *** 0.0087 -0.0072 0.0055 reference is under 25, no regular er -0.0100 0.0063 -0.0019 0.0084 0.0145 *** 0.0038 -0.0209 *** 0.0038 0.0026 0.0026 -0.0049 0.0044 -0.0055 0.0066 -0.0304 *** 0.0057 0.0017 0.0050 -0.0056 0.0031 0.0065 0.0066 -0.0304 *** 0.0037 reference is 1 to 6 months) 0.0114 *** 0.0033 -0.0002 0.0028 reference is none) 0.0164 *** 0.0033 -0.0029 *** 0.0038 reference is none) 0.0164 *** 0.0033 -0.0024 *** 0.0034 -0.0034 *** 0.0034 -0.0034 *** 0.0033 -0.0024 *** 0.0033 -0.0024 *** 0.0034 -0.0034 *** 0.0033 -0.0024 *** 0.0035 -0.0049 *** 0.0035 -0.0049 *** 0.0035 -0.0049 *** 0.0035 -0.0049 *** 0.0034	0.0070 0.0071 -0.0046 0.0095 0.0070 -0.0111 -0.0037 0.0068 -0.0187 reference is none) -0.0064 0.0039 -0.0090 * -0.0080 0.0043 -0.0158 *** -0.0134 ** 0.0044 -0.0198 *** -0.0159 ** 0.0053 -0.0260 *** -0.0166 * 0.0061 0.0036 0.0047 -0.0166 * 0.0051 0.0036 0.0047 -0.0166 * 0.0051 0.0036 0.0047 -0.0052 0.0034 0.0067 -0.0032 0.0037 -0.0109 -0.0160 ** 0.0050 -0.0277 *** -0.0160 ** 0.0057 -0.0227 *** -0.0160 ** 0.0057 -0.0277 *** -0.0072 0.0055 -0.0194 ** -0.0072 0.0055 -0.0194 *** -0.0072 0.0026 </td

Table 5continuedProbit Estimates for men and women in East Germany

	Men Women			
	marginal effect	SE	marginal effect	SE
Industry of last contributory job	(reference is manufacto	ring)		
Job with missing sector	-0.0077	0.0057	-0.0197 **	0.0067
Agriculture, forestry, fishing, mining, energy and water supply	0.0042	0.0050	-0.0203 **	0.0064
Food and tobacco	0.0065	0.0102	-0.0230 **	0.0083
Wood, paper, publishing, printing	0.0131	0.0113	-0.0086	0.0124
Chemical industry, engineering, vehical construction	0.0009	0.0092		0.0149
Construction	-0.0148 ***	0.0044		0.0072
Wholesale trade and car sales	-0.0110	0.0064		0.0086
Retail trade and hotels/restaurants	-0.0172 **	0.0056		0.0063
Transport and communication	-0.0053	0.0057		0.0087
Services for companies	-0.0032	0.0045		0.0060
Public adminstration, defence, social security agencies Education	0.0287 ***	0.0061		0.0066
	0.0009	0.0053		0.0063
Health care, veterinarian and social services Other services	0.0254 *** 0.0119 *	0.0068 0.0048		0.0064 0.0059
Last professional status	(reference isblue-collar		0.0009	0.0059
Skilled worker / foreman	-0.0076 ***	0.0022	0.0019	0.0031
White-collar worker	-0.0091 **	0.0022		0.0031
Part-time	-0.0052 *	0.0033		0.0025
No job yet	0.0002	0.0020		0.0020
Firm size of last contributory job	(reference is 1 to 20 em		0.0201	0.0000
21 to 50 employees	0.0026	0.0028	0.0083 *	0.0034
51 to 100 employees	0.0035	0.0030		0.0033
101 to 400 employees	0.0029	0.0026		0.0028
> 400 employees	-0.0062 *	0.0031		0.0032
Missing	-0.0017	0.0043		0.0051
Last regular monthly real wage (deflated with CPI, 2000=100)	(reference is none)			
>0 to 500 Euro	0.0187 **	0.0070	0.0088	0.0060
>500 to 1000 Euro	0.0330 ***	0.0061	0.0145 **	0.0048
>1000 to 1500 Euro	0.0270 ***	0.0058	0.0203 ***	0.0050
>1500 to 2000 Euro	0.0179 **	0.0059	0.0073	0.0058
> 2000 Euro	0.0053	0.0063	0.0008	0.0070
Time since end of last contributory job	(reference is 1 to 6 mon	ths)		
7 to 12 months	0.0074	0.0040	0.0033	0.0048
13 to 24 months	0.0179 ***	0.0041	-0.0010 .	
25 to 36 months	0.0158 ***	0.0043		0.0046
37 to 48 months	0.0068	0.0042		0.0047
> 48 months	0.0040	0.0045	-0.0091	0.0051
Average duration of contributory jobs between 01/2000 and 12/2004	(reference is 1 to 6 mon	ths)		
7 to 12 months	0.0082 **	0.0028	0.0035	0.0032
13 to 24 months	0.0072	0.0037	0.0113 **	0.0042
25 to 36 months	0.0019	0.0064	0.0243 **	0.0081
37 to 60 months	0.0226 *	0.0103	0.0118	0.0113
Number of contributory jobs in last five years	(reference is none)			
One	-0.0022	0.0052	-0.0075	0.0054
Тwo	0.0040	0.0062	0.0074	0.0071
Three or more	0.0058	0.0072	0.0167	0.0092
Minor employment, Jan. 31st 2005	-0.0480 ***	0.0054	-0.0545 ***	0.0060
Partner's cum. Dur. Neither empl. Nor job-seeker nor unemployment				
benefit receipt (proxy for out-of-labour force), 01/2000 to 12/2004	(reference is none)			
1 to 24 months	-0.0039	0.0033	-0.0060 *	0.0029
25 to 30 months	-0.0091	0.0067		0.0093
31 to 36 months	-0.0008	0.0075		0.0085
37 to 42 months	-0.0039	0.0080	-0.0162	0.0092
43 to 60 months	-0.0125 **	0.0044	-0.0141 **	0.0049

Table 5continuedProbit Estimates for men and women in East Germany

	Men		Women	
	marginal effect	SE	marginal effect	SE
Partner education	(no secodary schooling	degree/		
	no vocational training)			
Secondary school, no vocational education	0.0019	0.0055	0.0008	0.0060
Secondary school, vocational education	0.0031	0.0055	0.0018	0.0053
GCSE or A-levels, vocational education or college	-0.0019	0.0049	0.0008	0.0051
Partner ID is missing	0.0055	0.0068	-0.0073	0.0072
Partner ID available but partner education is missing	-0.0071	0.0056	-0.0075	0.0058
Partner unemployed, Jan. 31st 2005	-0.0041	0.0037	-0.0057	0.0036
Regional variables (district level)				
Local unempl. rate in January 2005	-0.0019 ***	0.0004	-0.0012 *	0.0005
%age change in local unempl. rate in January 2005	-0.0010 ***	0.0002	-0.0014 ***	0.0002
Percentage of LTU in Jan. 2005	0.0000	0.0003	0.0004	0.0003
Total %age change of percentage of LTU in Jan. 2005	-0.0017 ***	0.0002	-0.0025 ***	0.0002
Vacancy-unemployment ratio in January 2005	0.5950 ***	0.1482	0.6455 ***	0.1503
%age change vacancy-unemployment ratio in January 2005	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
	(reference is Cities with	below avera	age	
	LM conditions, high LTU	J)		
Urban areas with average LM conditions	0.1251 ***	0.0167	0.0911 ***	0.0160
Rural areas with below average LM conditions	0.0560 ***	0.0060	0.0477 ***	0.0057
Rural areas in East Germany with severe LM conditions	0.0379 ***	0.0043	0.0252 ***	0.0037
Rural areas in East Germany with very severe LM conditions	0.0125 **	0.0046	0.0075	0.0045
Proportion childcare under 3	0.0003 ***	0.0001	0.0002 *	0.0001
Looking for part-time job			-0.0118 **	0.0037
AIC	37624.52		33953.85	
BIC	39041.49		35357.12	
Number of Observations	82634		71088	
Log of the Likelihood	-18660.26		-16823.93	
Pseudo R ²	0.0773		0.0693	

* p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001

Table 6	
Probit Estimates for men a	nd women in West Germany

	Men Women				
	marginal effect	SE r	narginal effect	SE	
Reference transitional probability	0.0881		0.0261		
Age in years	(reference is 15 to 20 y	ears)			
21-24	-0.0040	0.0041	-0.0009	0.0017	
25-30	-0.0611 ***	0.0077	-0.0189 ***	0.0038	
31-35	-0.0611 ***	0.0077	-0.0188 ***	0.0038	
36-40	-0.0603 ***	0.0076	-0.0181 ***	0.0037	
41-45	-0.0598 ***	0.0076	-0.0172 ***	0.0036	
46-50	-0.0613 ***	0.0077	-0.0190 ***	0.0038	
51-57	-0.0681 ***	0.0083	-0.0211 ***	0.0042	
58-62	-0.0784 ***	0.0094	-0.0243 ***	0.0047	
Impairment of health or disabled	-0.0113 ***	0.0019	-0.0037 ***	0.0011	
Nationality	(reference is German)				
German with migration background	-0.0170 ***	0.0028	-0.0063 ***	0.0016	
Turkish	-0.0425 ***	0.0046	-0.0126 ***	0.0024	
former Soviet Union	-0.0196 ***	0.0039	-0.0111 ***	0.0023	
Other foreigners	-0.0350 ***	0.0038	-0.0101 ***	0.0019	
No partner	0.0019	0.0041	0.0184 ***	0.0034	
Partner, not married	-0.0011	0.0026	0.0120 ***	0.0025	
Children	(reference is no child)				
One child	-0.0037	0.0021	0.0010	0.0009	
Two children	-0.0031	0.0024	0.0003	0.0011	
Three and more children	-0.0004	0.0028	0.0005	0.0016	
Child under three years (yes)	-0.0027	0.0049	-0.0137 ***	0.0031	
Vocational Education	(reference is no second	ary schooling	degree/		
	no vocational training)	, ,	0		
Secondary school, no vocational education	0.0005	0.0017	0.0051 ***	0.0013	
Secondary school, vocational education	-0.0006	0.0018	0.0066 ***	0.0015	
GCSE, no vocational training	-0.0035	0.0032	0.0046 **	0.0018	
GCSE, vocational training	-0.0063 *	0.0026	0.0058 ***	0.0016	
A-levels, no vocational training	-0.0190 ***	0.0043	0.0048	0.0027	
A-levels, vocational training	-0.0078 *	0.0036	0.0045 *	0.0021	
A-levels, college	-0.0218 ***	0.0041	0.0022	0.0021	
Cumulated duration of unempl., 02/2004 to 01/2005	(reference is 0 to 6 mor	nths)			
7 to 12 months	0.0163 ***	0.0029	0.0092 ***	0.0020	
Cumulated duration of unempl., 02/2000 to 01/2005	(reference is none)				
1 to 6 months	0.0277 ***	0.0045	0.0065 ***	0.0018	
7 to 18 months	0.0275 ***	0.0049	0.0081 ***	0.0022	
19 to 30 months	0.0280 ***	0.0054	0.0109 ***	0.0028	
31 to 36 months	0.0222 ***	0.0057	0.0071 *	0.0028	
37 to 48 months	0.0216 ***	0.0060	0.0101 **	0.0032	
Out-of-labour force during last year	-0.0065 ***	0.0018	-0.0037 ***	0.0011	
Cum. dur. neither empl. nor job-seeker, 01/2000 to 12/2004 (our	t-of-				
labour-force)	(reference is none)				
1 to 6 months	-0.0076 ***	0.0017	-0.0019	0.0010	
7 to 12 months	-0.0168 ***	0.0028	-0.0053 ***	0.0016	
13 to 18 months	-0.0132 ***	0.0032	-0.0035 *	0.0016	
19 to 24 months	-0.0102 **	0.0036	-0.0021	0.0017	
25 to 30 months	-0.0126 **	0.0041	-0.0014	0.0018	
31 to 36 months	-0.0023	0.0045	0.0025	0.0021	
37 to 42 months	0.0020	0.0049	0.0018	0.0022	
43 to 60 months	-0.0027	0.0050	0.0019	0.0021	
Cum. dur. of UI receipt from 02/2004 to 01/2005	(reference is none)				
1 to 6 months	-0.0066 *	0.0027	-0.0010	0.0015	
7 to 9 months	-0.0097 *	0.0039	-0.0035	0.0021	
10 to 12 months	0.0009	0.0054	-0.0032	0.0025	

Table 6continuedProbit Estimates for men and women in West Germany

	Men Women				
	marginal effect	SE	marginal effect	SE	
Cum. dur. of UI receipt from 02/2000 to 01/2004	(reference is none)				
1 to 3 months	0.0047	0.0029	-0.0010	0.0015	
4 to 12 months	-0.0002	0.0025	-0.0019	0.0013	
13 to 18 months	0.0001	0.0032	-0.0052 **	0.0018	
> 18 months	-0.0017	0.0044	-0.0050 *	0.0023	
Cum. dur. of UA receipt from 02/2004 to 01/2005	(reference is none)				
1 to 3 months	-0.0004	0.0047	0.0063	0.0033	
4 to 6 months	-0.0065	0.0044	0.0061	0.0033	
7 to 9 months	-0.0146 ***	0.0044	0.0010	0.0028	
10 to 12 months	-0.0112 *	0.0045	0.0039	0.0032	
Cum. dur. of UA receipt from 02/2000 to 01/2004	(reference is none)				
1 to 6 months	-0.0046	0.0027	-0.0006	0.0015	
7 to 12 months	-0.0026	0.0031	-0.0043 *	0.0017	
13 to 30 months	-0.0063 *	0.0031	-0.0072 ***	0.0019	
31 to 42 months	-0.0128 **	0.0040	-0.0106 ***	0.0024	
43 to 48 months	-0.0224 ***	0.0047	-0.0128 ***	0.0028	
UI ben. receipt, Dec. 31st 2004	-0.0031	0.0047	0.0079 **	0.0030	
UA ben. receipt, Dec. 31st 2004	0.0119 **	0.0040	0.0045	0.0025	
Cumulated dur. of regular employment 01/2000 to 12/2004	(reference is none)				
1 to 6 months	0.0125 **	0.0041	0.0023	0.0025	
7 to 12 months	0.0079	0.0042	-0.0001	0.0024	
13 to 18 months	0.0097 *	0.0046	-0.0012	0.0025	
19 to 24 months	0.0046	0.0048	-0.0047	0.0025	
25 to 30 months	0.0063	0.0056	-0.0066 *	0.0028	
31 to 42 months	0.0008	0.0057		0.0029	
43 to 60 months	-0.0160 *	0.0065	-0.0119 ***	0.0034	
Interaction terms with age below 25					
Under 25, no voc. training	-0.0004	0.0043	-0.0029	0.0020	
, 3	(reference is under 25, r				
Under 25, up to 12 months regular employment	-0.0148 **	0.0046		0.0022	
Under 25, more than 12 months regular employment	-0.0131 **	0.0049	-0.0035	0.0023	
ALMP participation in the last five years (yes)					
Job creation schemes	0.0252 ***	0.0043	0.0110 ***	0.0032	
Private employment subsidy	-0.0121 ***	0.0027		0.0017	
Further vocational training	0.0015	0.0020		0.0014	
Retraining	-0.0021	0.0033		0.0019	
Short-term training (classroom)	0.0047 *	0.0020	0.0014	0.0012	
Short-term training (practical)	0.0035	0.0023	0.0032 *	0.0016	
Other short-term training	0.0077	0.0043	0.0032	0.0026	
Startup subsidy	-0.0287 ***	0.0040		0.0027	
Private placement service (§37), some tasks of placement	-0.0053	0.0027		0.0015	
Private placement service (§37), all tasks of placement	-0.0051	0.0030	-0.0029	0.0016	
Other ALMP	0.0273 ***	0.0042	0.0117 ***	0.0028	
Time since end of last ALMP	(reference is 1 to 6 mon	ths)			
7 to 12 months	0.0126 ***	0.0027	0.0069 ***	0.0019	
13 to 24 months	0.0094 ***	0.0026		0.0016	
> 24 months	0.0070 **	0.0023	0.0022	0.0013	
Number of ALMPs in last five years	(reference is none)				
One	0.0157 ***	0.0028	0.0039 **	0.0015	
Two	0.0217 ***	0.0039	0.0075 **	0.0024	
Three	0.0318 ***	0.0053		0.0029	
Four	0.0355 ***	0.0064	0.0118 **	0.0040	
Five and more	0.0465 ***	0.0077	0.0198 ***	0.0056	

Table 6 continued Probit Estimates for men and women in West Germany

	Men Women			
	marginal effect	SE	marginal effect	SE
Industry of last contributory job	(reference is manufacto	ring)		
Job with missing sector	-0.0021	0.0041	0.0012	0.0025
Agriculture, forestry, fishing, mining, energy and water supply	0.0365 ***	0.0061	-0.0034	0.0042
Food and tobacco	0.0037	0.0054	-0.0028	0.0025
Wood, paper, publishing, printing	-0.0018	0.0052	0.0000	0.0035
Chemical industry, engineering, vehical construction	0.0009	0.0043	-0.0016	0.0031
Construction	0.0010	0.0030		0.0038
Wholesale trade and car sales	-0.0045	0.0035	-0.0026	0.0023
Retail trade and hotels/restaurants	-0.0073 *	0.0033		0.0018
Transport and communication	-0.0082 *	0.0034		0.0027
Services for companies	0.0076 **	0.0029		0.0018
Public adminstration, defence, social security agencies	0.0568 ***	0.0067		0.0033
Education	0.0327 ***	0.0057		0.0032
Health care, veterinarian and social services	0.0422 ***	0.0057		0.0029
Other services	0.0166 ***	0.0039	0.0046 *	0.0022
Last professional status	(reference is blue-collar			
Skilled worker / foreman	-0.0089 ***	0.0019		0.0016
White-collar worker	-0.0167 ***	0.0025		0.0012
Part-time	-0.0006	0.0024		0.0010
No job yet	0.0071	0.0065	0.0003	0.0034
Firm size of last contributory job 21 to 50 employees	(reference is 1 to 20 em 0.0077 ***	pioyees) 0.0021	0.0024 *	0.0010
51 to 100 employees	0.0077		0.0024 *	0.0012
101 to 400 employees		0.0024		0.0015 0.0012
> 400 employees	0.0056 ** 0.0046	0.0020		0.0012
Missing	-0.0023	0.0023		0.0013
Last regular monthly real wage (deflated with CPI, 2000=100)	(reference is none)	0.0033	-0.0000	0.0020
>0 to 500 Euro	0.0225 ***	0.0049	0.0073 **	0.0022
>500 to 1000 Euro	0.0225	0.0043		0.0022
>1000 to 1500 Euro	0.0286 ***	0.0040	0.0075 ***	0.0019
>1500 to 2000 Euro	0.0174 ***	0.0036		0.0020
> 2000 Euro	0.0078 *	0.0035		0.0019
Time since end of last contributory job	(reference is 1 to 6 mon		0.0021	0.0010
7 to 12 months	0.0012	0.0029	-0.0008	0.0016
13 to 24 months	-0.0011	0.0025	-0.0003	0.0014
25 to 36 months	-0.0007	0.0027	0.0002	0.0015
37 to 48 months	-0.0049	0.0029	-0.0034 *	0.0017
> 48 months	-0.0101 **	0.0035	-0.0035	0.0019
Average duration of contributory jobs between 01/2000 and 12/2004	(reference is 1 to 6 mon	ths)		
7 to 12 months	0.0003	0.0020	0.0007	0.0013
13 to 24 months	-0.0066 *	0.0027		0.0018
25 to 36 months	-0.0098 *	0.0044	-0.0018	0.0026
37 to 60 months	-0.0047	0.0057	0.0002	0.0036
Number of contributory jobs in last five years	(reference is none)			
One	-0.0120 *	0.0048	-0.0018	0.0029
Тwo	-0.0111 *	0.0053	-0.0017	0.0032
Three or more	-0.0111 *	0.0057	0.0026	0.0038
Minor employment, Jan. 31st 2005	-0.0379 ***	0.0041	-0.0145 ***	0.0026
Partner's cum. Dur. Neither empl. Nor job-seeker nor unemployment				
benefit receipt (proxy for out-of-labour force), 01/2000 to 12/2004	(reference is none)			
1 to 24 months	-0.0001	0.0036	0.0020	0.0016
25 to 30 months	0.0134 *	0.0062	0.0065	0.0038
31 to 36 months	0.0110	0.0061	0.0055	0.0038
37 to 42 months	0.0189 **	0.0064	0.0047	0.0037
43 to 60 months	0.0144 ***	0.0037	0.0063 **	0.0023



Table 6 continued Probit Estimates for men and women in West Germany

	Men		Women	
	marginal effect	SE	marginal effect	SE
Partner education	(no secodary schooling	degree/		
	no vocational training)			
Secondary school, no vocational education	0.0022	0.0030	0.0005	0.0017
Secondary school, vocational education	-0.0018	0.0042	0.0033	0.0020
GCSE or A-levels, vocational education or college	-0.0019	0.0043	-0.0010 .	
Partner ID is missing	-0.0178 ***	0.0037	-0.0092 ***	0.0027
Partner ID available but partner education is missing	-0.0121 ***	0.0031	-0.0060 **	0.0023
Partner unemployed, Jan. 31st 2005	-0.0028	0.0027	-0.0011	0.0016
Regional variables (district level)				
Local unempl. rate in January 2005	0.0017 ***	0.0003	0.0013 ***	0.0003
%age change in local unempl. rate in January 2005	-0.0010 ***	0.0001	-0.0004 ***	0.0001
Percentage of LTU in Jan. 2005	-0.0009 ***	0.0001	-0.0004 ***	0.0001
Total %age change of percentage of LTU in Jan. 2005	-0.0001	0.0001	0.0001	0.0001
Vacancy-unemployment ratio in January 2005	-0.0964 ***	0.0269	-0.0129	0.0140
%age change vacancy-unemployment ratio in January 2005	0.0001 ***	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
	(reference is Cities with	below avera	ge	
	LM conditions, high LTL))	-	
Cities in West Germany with average LM conditions	0.0162 ***	0.0031	0.0121 ***	0.0024
Cities in West Germany with above-average LM conditions	0.0528 ***	0.0062	0.0249 ***	0.0046
Urban areas with average LM conditions.	0.0290 ***	0.0036	0.0114 ***	0.0023
Rural areas in West Germany with average LM conditions	0.0627 ***	0.0062	0.0288 ***	0.0047
Rural areas with below average LM conditions	0.0310 ***	0.0052	0.0150 ***	0.0035
Rural areas in W. G. with above average LM conditions and high				
seasonal dynamics	0.1452 ***	0.0118	0.0431 ***	0.0070
Rural areas in W. G., very favourite LM cond., seasonal dynamics				
and low LTU	0.1009 ***	0.0101	0.0288 ***	0.0055
Rural areas in W. G., very favourite LM cond. and low LTU	0.0950 ***	0.0090	0.0350 ***	0.0059
Proportion of childcare under 3	0.0035 ***	0.0002	0.0006 ***	0.0001
Looking for part-time job			-0.0054 ***	0.0012
AIC	38729.61		18537.01	
BIC	40247.28		19998.99	
Number of Observations	124080		81791	
Log of the Likelihood	-19208.80		-9111.51	
Pseudo R ²	0.0833		0.0876	

* p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001



Table 7Results of Regression Decomposition (grouped variables)

Participation probability East	=	7.03%					
Participation probability West	=	2.64%					
Difference	=	4.38% ¹					
Decomposition Base		Ea	st	We	st	Pooled	
		рр	%	рр	%	рр	%
Total explained		2.76% ¹	63.07%	-2.56% ¹	59.87%	2.62% ¹	58.51%
Explained Effect due to:							
Age		-1.00	-22.88%	-0.82	-18.68%	-0.30	6.8%
Interaction terms with age		0.26	5.82%	0.24	5.42%	0.01	-0.1%
Nationality		0.45	10.16%	0.41	9.45%	-0.20	4.7%
Single		0.00	-0.02%	-0.11	-2.49%	0.02	-0.4%
Children		0.19	4.36%	0.12	2.81%	-0.01	0.3%
Education		0.65	14.87%	0.46	10.54%	-0.10	2.2%
Health status		0.01	0.19%	0.01	0.17%	-0.02	0.5%
Former unemployment		0.52	11.86%	0.61	13.82%	-0.20	4.6%
Former out-of-labour-force		0.21	4.68%	0.20	4.56%	-0.11	2.5%
Former benefit receipt		-0.84	-19.18%	-0.78	-17.71%	0.26	-5.9%
Unemployment benefit receipt							
31st December 2004		0.71	16.20%	0.51	11.64%	-0.08	1.9%
Former employment		0.23	5.27%	0.25	5.78%	-0.13	3.0%
Former ALMPs		1.04	23.69%	1.12	25.48%	-0.65	14.7%
Last job		0.48	11.04%	0.43	9.86%	-0.19	4.3%
Minor Employment		0.17	3.84%	0.17	3.82%	0.06	-1.3%
Partner information		0.00	0.03%	0.01	0.17%	0.07	-1.5%
Childcare facilities		0.29	6.60%	0.15	3.32%	-1.02	23.2%
Regional information		-0.71	-16.25%	-0.50	-11.37%	0.16	-3.5%
Looking for part-time job		0.12	2.78%	0.14	3.26%	-0.11	2.6%

1 These figures are in percentage points.

Recently published

No.	Author(s)	Title	Date
<u>20/2007</u>	Reiter, J.P. Drechsler, J.	Releasing multiply-imputed synthetic data generated in two stages to protect confidentiality	6/07
<u>21/2007</u>	Damelang, A.	Räumliche Mobilität von türkischen Arbeitnehmern: Eine Analyse mit der IAB-Beschäftigtenstichprobe 2001	7/07
<u>22/2007</u>	Pfeifer, C.	Homogene und heterogene Teilnahmeeffekte des Ham- burger Kombilohnmodells: Ein Verfahrensvergleich von Propensity Score Matching und OLS-Regression	7/07
<u>23/2007</u>	Bender, S. Koch, S. Meßmann, S. Walwei, U.	Was muten sich Arbeitslose zu? : Lohnkonzessionen von ALG-II-Empfängern published in: Sozialer Fortschritt, Jg. 57, H. 3 (2008), S. 75-85	7/07
<u>24/2007</u>	Bruckmeier, K. Schnitzlein, D.	Was wurde aus den Arbeitslosenhilfeempfängern? : Eine empirische Analyse des Übergangs und Verbleibs von Arbeitslosenhilfeempfängern nach der Hartz-IV-Reform	9/07
<u>25/2007</u>	Büttner, T.	Ankündigungseffekt oder Maßnahmewirkung? : Eine Evaluation von Trainingsmaßnahmen zur Überprüfung der Verfügbarkeit	10/07
<u>26/2007</u>	Brücker, H. Defoort, C.	Inequality and the (self-)selection of international migrants: Theory and novel evidence	10/07
<u>27/2007</u>	Brücker, H. Schröder, P.J.H.	International migration with heterogeneous agents: The- ory and evidence	10/07
<u>28/2007</u>	Krug, G.	In-work benefits for low wage jobs: Can additional in- come hinder labor market integration?	11/07
<u>29/2007</u>	Wolff, J. Jozwiak, E.	Does short-term training activate means-tested unem- ployment benefit recipients in Germany?	11/07
<u>30/2007</u>	König, M. Möller, J.	Mindestlohneffekte des Entsendegesetzes? : Eine Mikro- datenanalyse für die deutsche Bauwirtschaft	11/07
<u>32/2007</u>	Hohmeyer, K. Wolff, J.	A fistful of Euros: Does One-Euro-Job participation lead means-tested benefit recipients into regular jobs and out of unemployment benefit II receipt?	12/07
<u>1/2008</u>	Schnitzlein, D.	Verbunden über Generationen: Struktur und Ausmaß der intergenerationalen Einkommensmobilität in Deutschland	1/08
<u>2/2008</u>	Bauer, T. K. Schmucker, A. Vorell, M.	KMU und Arbeitsplatzdynamik: Eine Analyse auf Basis der Beschäftigten-Historik-Datei	1/08
<u>3/2008</u>	Baas, T. Brücker, H.	Macroeconomic consequences of migration diversion: A CGE simulation for Germany and the UK	1/08
<u>4/2008</u>	Amend, E. Herbst, P.	Labor market pooling and human capital investment decisions	1/08
<u>5/2008</u>	Bernhard, S. Wolff, J.	Contracting out placement services in Germany: Is as- signment to private providers effective for needy job- seekers?	2/08
<u>6/2008</u>	Lehmer, F. Ludsteck, J.	The returns to job mobility and inter-regional migration	2/08
<u>7/2008</u>	Klinger, S. Wolf, K.	What explains changes in full-time and part-time em- ployment in Western Germany? : A new method on an old question	2/08

As per: 15.02.2008

For a full list, consult the IAB website http://www.iab.de/de/publikationen/discussionpaper.aspx

Imprint

IAB-Discussion Paper 8/2008

Editorial address

Institute for Employment Research of the Federal Employment Agency Regensburger Str. 104 D-90478 Nuremberg

Editorial staff Regina Stoll, Jutta Palm-Nowak

Technical completion Jutta Sebald

All rights reserved

Reproduction and distribution in any form, also in parts, requires the permission of IAB Nuremberg

Website

http://www.iab.de

Download of this Discussion Paper

http://doku.iab.de/discussionpapers/2008/dp0808.pdf

For further inquiries contact the author:

Katrin Hohmeyer Phone +49.911.179 5170 E-mail katrin.hohmeyer@iab.de

Eva Jozwiak Phone +49.911.179 1938 E-mail eva.jozwiak@iab.de